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Deloitte. 

ResponsiЫlities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial 
Statements 

Management is responsiЫe for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in 
accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards as issued Ьу the IASB, and for such internal control 
as management determines is necessary to епаЫе the preparation of financial statements that аге free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

ln preparing the financial statements, management is responsiЫe for assessing the Bank's abllity to 
continue as а going concern, disclosing, as applicaЫe, matters related to going concern and using 
the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Bank or to 
cease operations, or has по realistic alternative but to do so. 

Those charged with governance are responsiЫe for overseeing the Bank's financial reporting process. 

Auditor's ResponsiЫllties for the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Our objectives аге to oЬtain reasonaЫe assurance about whether the financial statements as а whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that 
includes our opinion. ReasonaЫe assurance is а high level of assurance, but is not а guarantee that 
ап audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect а material misstatement when it exists. 
Misstatements сап arise from fraud ог error and are considered material if, individually or in 
the aggregate, they could reasonaЫy Ье expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken 
оп the basis of these financial statements. 
As part of ап audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional 
skepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

• ldentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and оЫаiп audit
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide а basis for оuг opinion. The risk of not
detecting а materia_l misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for опе resulting from error,
as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override
of internal control.

• OЬtain ап understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing ап opinion оп
the effectiveness of the Bank's internal control.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonaЫeness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made Ьу management.

• Conclude оп the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of accounting
and, based оп the audit evidence oЬtained, whether а material uncertainty exists related to events
ог conditions that may cast significant douЫ оп the Bank's abllity to continue as а going concern.
lf we conclude that а material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor's
report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based оп the audit evidence oЬtained up to the date of
our auditor's report. However, future events or conditions тау cause the Bank to cease to continue
as а going concern.

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including
the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in а manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned 
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including апу significant deficiencies in 
internal control that we identify during our audit. 

Erkin Ayupov, Qualified Auditor/Engagement Partner � 
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Deloitte. 

• the frequency during 2024 of reports prepared Ьу the Bank's risk management functions, and which
cover the Bank's management of significant risks, was in compliance with the Bank's internal
documentation. Those reports included observations made Ьу the Bank's risk management
functions as to their assessment of the Bank's significant risks;

• as at 31 December 2024, the Supervisory Board and the Management Board of the Bank had
responsibllity to monitor the Bank's compliance with risk and capital adequacy limits set Ьу Bank
internal documentation. То exercise control over the effectiveness of the Bank risk management
procedures and their consistent application during 2024, the Supervisory Board and Management
of the Bank regularly discussed the reports prepared Ьу the risk management and internal audit
functions of the Bank, and considered proposed measures to eliminate weaknesses.

Procedures with respect to elements of the Bank's internal control and organization of risk management 
systems were performed solely for the purpose of examining whether these elements, as prescribed Ьу 
the Law and as described above, comply with Central Bank requirements. 

Audit Organisation "Deloitte & Touche" LLC 
is included in the Register of audit organisations of 
the Ministry of Economy and Finance of the 
RepuЬlic of Uzbekistan dated 08 Jun��� ....... 
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1. Principal activities 
 
Joint-stock company "AVO bank" (formerly Joint-Stock Commercial Bank "Uzagroexportbank") (hereinafter 
referred to as “the Bank") was initially established on the basis of the Resolution of the President of the Republic 
of Uzbekistan "On the formation of the joint-stock commercial bank "Uzagroexportbank" No. PP-2740 dated 24 
January 2017. After the acquisition of the Bank by its current shareholder in 2023, the Bank changed the focus 
from financing of companies exporting the fruits and vegetables to retail banking with an emphasis on credit card 
products. 
 
Registered address and place of business. The Bank’s registered address is: Afrosiab Street 14/2, Tashkent, 
100013, Uzbekistan. The Bank carries out banking activities through its head office and has no branches as at 
31 December 2024. 
The Bank is registered in the Republic of Uzbekistan to carry out banking activities under the banking license    
No. 83 dated 8 June 2024. 
The total number of employees as at 31 December 2024 was 240 people (31 December 2023: 113 people). 
 
Shareholder. As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, 100% of the Bank’s shares belong to FC LLC “AVO.UZ” 
(Uzbekistan), the sole founder of which is Ruslan Adilbaev. 
 
Operating environment 
 
Emerging markets such as Uzbekistan are subject to different risks than more developed markets, including 
economic, political and social, and legal and legislative risks. Laws and regulations affecting businesses in 
Uzbekistan continue to change rapidly, while tax and regulatory frameworks are subject to varying interpretations. 
The future economic direction of Uzbekistan is heavily influenced by the fiscal and monetary policies adopted by 
the government, together with developments in the legal, regulatory, and political environment. 
Because Uzbekistan produces and exports gold in large volume, its economy is sensitive to the global gold price, 
which fluctuated significantly in 2024, averaging 2,388.00 US Dollar per troy ounce (2023: 1,943.00 US Dollar per 
troy ounce). 
The military and political conflict between Russia and Ukraine escalated in early 2022. As a result, several 
countries introduced economic sanctions against Russia and Belarus, including measures to ban new investment 
and restrict interaction with major financial institutions and many state enterprises. Since a significant portion of 
remittances to Uzbekistan comes from Russia, fluctuations in their flow depend on the nature of the sanctions 
imposed, their impact on the Russian economy, and the devaluation of the Russian ruble. Because these factors 
change from year to year, the exact impact on Uzbekistan's financial environment remains uncertain and difficult 
to predict. 
Uzbekistan is currently taking significant steps to join the World Trade Organization, which may significantly 
change market rules for local players and open up new opportunities to participants from outside of Uzbekistan. 
The process may require significant changes in national legislation. 
At the end of 2024, Uzbekistan’s gross domestic product (“GDP”) grew by 6.5% (2023: 6.0%). Inflation in the 
country increased to 9.8% per annum in 2024 (2023: 8.8%). In July 2024, the Central Bank of the Republic of 
Uzbekistan reduced base rate to 13.5% per annum compared to 14% per annum at the beginning of the year. 
However, uncertainty still exists related to the future development of geopolitical risks and their impact on the 
economy of Uzbekistan. 
Management of the Bank is monitoring developments in the economic, political, and geopolitical situation and 
taking measures it considers necessary to support the sustainability and development of the Bank’s business for 
the foreseeable future. However, the consequences of these events and related future changes may have a 
significant impact on the Bank’s operations. 
 
 
2. Basis of preparation 
 
Statement of compliance. These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with IFRS Accounting 
Standards as issued by International Accounting Standards Board. The Bank maintains its accounting records in 
accordance with the respective laws of the Republic of Uzbekistan. These financial statements have been 
prepared from statutory accounting records and have been adjusted to conform to IFRS Accounting Standards. 
These adjustments include certain reclassifications to reflect the economic substance of underlying transactions 
including reclassification of certain assets and liabilities, income and expenses to appropriate financial statement 
caption.  
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The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention except as disclosed in the 
accounting policies below. 
 
Presentation and functional currency. These financial statements are presented in thousands of Uzbekistan 
Soums (“UZS thousands”). Items included in the financial statements of the Bank are measured using the currency 
of the primary economic environment in which the Bank operates (“the functional currency”). The functional 
currency of the Bank is UZS. 
 
Going concern 
 
The accompanying financial statements of the Bank have been prepared on a going concern basis, which 
assumes the Bank will continue its operations for the foreseeable future, at least the next 12 months. In assessing 
this basis, the Management Board has considered the following factors:   
Current financial position and performance  
The Bank’s financial results for the year ended 31 December 2024, including a net loss in the amount of UZS 
163,378,562 thousand and negative operating cash flows in the amount of UZS 374,562,748 thousand, reflect 
execution of its strategic business plan developed following its repositioning into retail banking under the new 
ownership. These results reflect deliberate investments in: 

• expansion of the loan portfolio, particularly credit card offerings, to capture market share in the consumer 
lending sector; 

• customer acquisition initiatives including targeted marketing and products incentives to expand the retail 
customer base; 

• technological infrastructure including digital banking solutions, cybersecurity, and credit assessment tools 
to enhance operational efficiency, customer experience, and scalability. 

The Management Board finds these expenditures as integral to establishing the foundation for long-term 
profitability, with returns expected to materialize as the loan portfolio matures and customer engagement deepens. 
Profitability outlook 
The Management Board anticipates the Bank to become profitable starting from 2025, supported by revenue 
generation from twofold expansion of its customer base, and from gradual maturity of current investments and 
operational scaling initiatives outlined in the business plan. Notably, as of the date of these financial statements, 
the Bank’s year-to-date financial performance is ahead of budgeted expectations, demonstrating effective 
execution of its strategy. The Bank also plans to enhance its product offerings with the launch of a new deposit 
product in the second quarter of 2025. These initiatives reflect the Bank's commitment to sustaining its operational 
growth and financial performance.    
Funding strategy and liquidity position   
As part of its funding strategy, the Bank’s capital structure remains predominantly equity-financed with 
approximately 93% of total assets funded by shareholder’s equity and 7% financed by liabilities. This reflects the 
Bank’s deliberate approach to prioritize stability and reduce reliance on traditional deposit-taking during initial 
investment phase. Also, as at 31 December 2024, the Bank’s cash and cash equivalents amounted to UZS 
186,614,916 thousand against its total liabilities of UZS 35,049,592 thousand. To further strengthen liquidity, the 
Management Board has taken proactive steps to secure UZS 500 billion through a private placement of bonds 
arranged via an investment fund affiliated with the shareholder. This transaction is planned to be structured to 
align with market terms and regulatory requirements. In addition, the shareholder has provided a written support 
letter explicitly committing to take all necessary measures to ensure the Bank’s continuity should financial 
difficulties arise. This includes potential capital injections or other forms of financial support.  
Regulatory compliance and prudential strength 
As disclosed in Note 20, the Bank currently meets prudential capital adequacy and liquidity requirements 
prescribed by the CBU, with significant headroom above minimum regulatory requirements (e.g., capital 
adequacy, Tier 1 capital). This robust compliance underscores the Bank’s financial resilience and ability to absorb 
near-term operational losses.   
After evaluating the business plan, related-party funding arrangements, shareholder commitments, and regulatory 
compliance, the Management Board of the Bank confirm that the going concern basis remains appropriate. The 
financial statements do not include adjustments that would apply if the Bank were unable to continue operations. 
 
 
3. Material accounting policy information 
 
Net interest income  
 
Net interest income comprises interest income and interest expense, calculated using the effective interest 
method, for all financial instruments except for those classified as held for trading and those measured or 
designated as at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL).  
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The effective interest rate (EIR) is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash flows of the financial 
instrument through the expected life of the financial instrument or, where appropriate, a shorter year, to the net  
carrying amount of the financial instrument. The future cash flows are estimated taking into account all the 
contractual terms of the instrument. 
The calculation of the EIR includes all fees paid or received between parties to the contract that are incremental 
and directly attributable to the financial instrument, transaction costs, and all other premiums or discounts. For 
financial assets at FVTPL, transaction costs are recognised in profit or loss at initial recognition.  
The interest income/ interest expense is calculated by applying the EIR to the gross carrying amount of non-credit 
impaired financial assets (i.e. the amortised cost of the financial asset before adjusting for any expected credit 
loss allowance), or to the amortised cost of financial liabilities. For credit-impaired financial assets, the interest 
income is calculated by applying the EIR to the amortised cost of the credit-impaired financial assets (i.e. the 
gross carrying amount less the allowance for expected credit losses (ECLs)). For financial assets purchased or 
originated credit-impaired (POCI), the EIR determined at initial recognition reflects the ECLs at the date in 
determining the future cash flows expected to be received from the financial asset. 
 
Net fee and commission income  
 
Fee and commission income and expense include fees other than those that are an integral part of EIR (see 
above). These fees, which are generally recognised as the services are provided, include fees charged for account 
management, fees for money transfers, plastic card issuance and maintenance, cash withdrawal and foreign 
currency transactions and credit cards fees. 
Fee and commission expenses with regards to services are accounted for as the services are received. 
 
Financial instruments  
 
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the Bank’s statement of financial position when the Bank 
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. 
Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly 
attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than financial assets and 
financial liabilities measured at FVTPL) are added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or 
financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition 
of financial assets or financial liabilities measured at FVTPL are recognised immediately in profit or loss. 
If the transaction price differs from fair value at initial recognition, the Bank accounts for such difference as follows: 

• if fair value is evidenced by a quoted price in an active market for an identical asset or liability or based 
on a valuation technique that uses only data from observable markets, or if the valuation technique 
includes unobservable inputs and those unobservable inputs are insignificant relative to their contribution 
to the difference between the fair valuation and the transaction price, then the difference is recognised in 
profit or loss on initial recognition (i.e. day 1 profit or loss) 

• in all other cases, the fair value will be adjusted to bring it in line with the transaction price (i.e. day 1 profit 
or loss will be deferred by including it in the initial carrying amount of the asset or liability). 

After initial recognition, the deferred gain or loss will be released to profit or loss on a systematic and rational 
basis, only to the extent that it arises from a change in a factor (including time) that market participants would take 
into account when pricing the asset or liability. 
 
Financial assets  
 
All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. 
Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of the financial 
asset within the time frame established by regulation or convention in the market place. For all financial assets 
the amount presented in the statement of financial position includes all amounts receivable, including accrued 
interest. 
All recognised financial assets are subsequently measured at amortised cost or fair value on the basis of the 
entity’s business model for managing the financial assets and the contractual cash flow characteristics of the 
financial assets. Specifically: 

• debt instruments that are held within a business model whose objective is to collect the contractual cash 
flows, and that have contractual cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the 
principal amount outstanding (SPPI), are subsequently measured at amortised cost 

• debt instruments that are held within a business model whose objective is both to collect the contractual 
cash flows and to sell the debt instruments, and that have contractual cash flows that are SPPI, are 
subsequently measured at FVTOCI  

• all other debt instruments (e.g. debt instruments managed on a fair value basis, or held for sale) and 
equity investments are subsequently measured at FVTPL.  
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Business models 
 
An assessment of business models for managing financial assets is fundamental to the classification of a financial 
asset.  
The Bank determines the business models at a level that reflects how groups of financial assets are managed 
together to achieve a particular business objective. The Bank’s business models do not depend on management’s 
intentions for an individual instrument, therefore the business model assessment is performed at a higher level of 
aggregation rather than on an instrument-by-instrument basis.  
The Bank’s business models reflect how the Bank manages its financial assets in order to generate cash flows 
and determine whether cash flows will result from collecting contractual cash flows, selling financial assets or 
both. 
The Bank considers all relevant information available when making the business model assessment. However, 
this assessment is not performed on the basis of scenarios that the Bank does not reasonably expect to occur, 
such as so-called ‘stress case’ scenarios. The Bank takes into account all relevant evidence available such as: 

• how the performance of the business model and the financial assets held within that business model are 
evaluated and reported to the entity’s key management personnel; 

• the risks that affect the performance of the business model (and the financial assets held within that 
business model) and, in particular, the way in which those risks are managed; 

• how managers of the business are compensated (e.g. whether the compensation is based on the fair 
value of the assets managed or on the contractual cash flows collected). 

At initial recognition of a financial asset, the Bank determines whether newly recognised financial assets are part 
of an existing business model or whether they reflect the commencement of a new business model. The Bank 
reassesses its business models each reporting year to determine whether the business models have changed 
since the prior reporting year. For the current and prior reporting year the Bank has not identified any changes in 
its business models. 
The Bank’s business comprises of primarily loans and advances to customers that are held for collecting 
contractual cash flows.  
Some investment securities are held by the Bank’s central treasury function to meet the Bank’s everyday liquidity 
needs. The Bank seeks to minimise the costs of managing its everyday liquidity needs and therefore actively 
manages the return on the portfolio. The Bank considers that these financial assets are held within a business 
model whose objective is to hold assets in order to collect contractual cash flows. 
 
SPPI test 
 
For the purpose of SPPI test, principal is the fair value of the financial asset at initial recognition. Interest consists 
of consideration for the time value of money, for the credit risk associated with the principal amount outstanding 
during a particular year of time and for other basic lending risks and costs and a profit margin. The SPPI 
assessment is made in the currency in which the financial asset is denominated.  
Contractual cash flows that are SPPI are consistent with a basic lending arrangement. Contractual terms that 
introduce exposure to risks or volatility in the contractual cash flows that are unrelated to a basic lending 
arrangement, such as exposure to changes in equity prices or commodity prices, do not give rise to contractual 
cash flows that are SPPI. An originated or an acquired financial asset can be a basic lending arrangement 
irrespective of whether it is a loan in its legal form. 
 
Investment securities at cost or at FVTOCI 
 
Investment securities that are subsequently measured at amortised cost or at FVTOCI are subject to impairment. 
The Bank assesses the classification and measurement of a financial asset based on the contractual cash flow 
characteristics of the asset and the Bank’s business model for managing the asset. 
For an asset to be classified and measured at amortised cost or at FVTOCI, its contractual terms should give rise 
to cash flows that are SPPI. 
When investment securities measured at FVTOCI is derecognised, the cumulative gain/loss previously 
recognised in OCI is reclassified from equity to profit or loss. In contrast, for an equity investment designated as 
measured at FVTOCI, the cumulative gain/loss previously recognised in OCI is not subsequently reclassified to 
profit or loss but transferred within equity. 
 
Reclassifications  
 
If the business model under which the Bank holds financial assets changes, the financial assets affected are 
reclassified. The business model reflects how groups of financial assets are managed together to achieve a 
business objective and does not depend on management’s intention for individual financial assets. A change in 
business model will occur only when the Bank begins or ceases to perform an activity that is significant to its 
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operations. The classification and measurement requirements related to the new category apply prospectively 
from the first day of the first reporting year following the change in business model that results in reclassifying the 
Bank’s financial assets. During the current financial year and previous accounting year there was no significant  
change in the Bank’s operation. As result there was no change in the business model under which the Bank holds 
financial assets and therefore no reclassifications were made.  
 
Foreign currency translation  
 
Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded in the functional currency, converted at the rate of 
exchange ruling at the date of the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies 
are retranslated at the functional currency rate of exchange ruling at the reporting date. Gains and losses resulting 
from the translation of foreign currency transactions are recognized in the statement of profit or loss as net gain 
on foreign exchange operations.  
 
Impairment  
 
The Bank recognises loss allowances for ECLs on the following financial instruments that are not measured at 
FVTPL: 

• cash and cash equivalents;  
• loans and advances to customers;  
• investment securities at amortised cost; 
• deposits with Banks and payment systems; 
• other financial assets. 

With the exception of purchased or originated credit-impaired (POCI) financial assets, ECLs are required to be 
measured through a loss allowance at an amount equal to: 

• 12-month ECL, i.e. lifetime ECL that result from those default events on the financial instrument that are 
possible within 12 months after the reporting date (referred to as Stage 1) 

• full lifetime ECL, i.e. lifetime ECL that result from all possible default events over the life of the financial 
instrument (referred to as Stage 2 and Stage 3). 

A loss allowance for full lifetime ECL is required for a financial instrument if the credit risk on that financial 
instrument has increased significantly since initial recognition. For all other financial instruments, ECLs are 
measured at an amount equal to the 12-month ECL.  
ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of the present value of credit losses. These are measured as the present 
value of the difference between the cash flows due to the Bank under the contract and the cash flows that the 
Bank expects to receive discounted at the asset’s EIR.  

• for undrawn loan commitments, the ECL is the difference between the present value of the difference 
between the contractual cash flows that are due to the Bank if the holder of the commitment draws down 
the loan and the cash flows that the Bank expects to receive if the loan is drawn down 

• for financial guarantee contracts, the ECL is the difference between the expected payments to reimburse 
the holder of the guaranteed debt instrument less any amounts that the Bank expects to receive from the 
holder, the debtor or any other party. 

The Bank measures ECL on an individual basis, or on a collective basis for portfolios of loans that share similar 
economic risk characteristics. The measurement of the loss allowance is based on the present value of the asset’s 
expected cash flows using the asset’s original EIR, regardless of whether it is measured on an individual basis or 
a collective basis.    
General Definition of Credit-Impaired Financial Assets. A financial asset is ‘credit-impaired’ when one or more 
events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset have occurred. 
Credit-impaired financial assets are referred to as Stage 3 assets. Evidence of credit-impairment includes 
observable data about the following events: 

• significant financial difficulty of the borrower or issuer;  
• a breach of contract such as a default or past due event;  
• the lender of the borrower, for economic or contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s financial 

difficulty, having granted to the borrower a concession that the lender would not otherwise consider;  
• the disappearance of an active market for a security because of financial difficulties;  
• the purchase of a financial asset at a deep discount that reflects the incurred credit losses. 

Specific Impairment Criteria by Asset Type 
Loans and Advances to Customers 
For loans, credit impairment is indicated when: 

• Payments are overdue by more than 90 days; 
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• A concession is granted due to deterioration in the borrower's financial condition (unless there is evidence 
that the risk of not receiving contractual cash flows has significantly reduced and no other impairment 
indicators exist); 

• The loan is categorized as "unsatisfactory," "doubtful," or "hopeless" according to regulatory classification; 
• There is evidence of significant financial difficulties of the borrower; 
• Legal proceedings have been initiated against the borrower. 

Debt Securities 
For debt securities, the Bank assesses credit impairment at each reporting date by evaluating: 

• Bond yields; 
• Credit ratings; 
• The issuer's ability to raise funding; 
• Market liquidity and activity for the security; 
• Issuers with ratings of "CC" or below. 

Interbank Deposits and Correspondent Accounts 
For interbank placements and correspondent accounts, credit impairment is identified through: 

• External credit ratings dropping to "CC" or below; 
• Inability to access funds for more than 5 days; 
• Cross-default events with other obligations of the financial institution; 
• Regulatory actions against the counterparty bank; 
• Significant deterioration in the financial institution's capital position. 

It may not be possible to identify a single discrete event—instead, the combined effect of several events may 
have caused financial assets to become credit-impaired. The Bank assesses whether debt instruments that are 
financial assets measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI are credit-impaired at each reporting date. To assess if 
sovereign and corporate debt instruments are credit impaired, the Bank considers factors such as bond yields, 
credit ratings and the ability of the borrower to raise funding. 
A loan is considered credit-impaired when a concession is granted to the borrower due to a deterioration in the 
borrower’s financial condition, unless there is evidence that as a result of granting the concession the risk of not 
receiving the contractual cash flows has reduced significantly and there are no other indicators of impairment. For 
financial assets where concessions are contemplated but not granted the asset is deemed credit impaired when 
there is observable evidence of credit-impairment including meeting the definition of default. 
Definition of default. The definition of default is used in measuring the amount of ECL and in the determination of 
whether the loss allowance is based on 12-month or lifetime ECL, as default is a component of the probability of 
default (PD) which affects both the measurement of ECLs and the identification of a significant increase in credit 
risk. 
The Bank considers the following as constituting an event of default: 

• the borrower is past due more than 90 days on any material credit obligation to the Bank; 
• the borrower is unlikely to pay its credit obligations to the Bank in full. 

This definition of default is used by the Bank for accounting and internal credit risk management purposes and is 
broadly aligned to the regulatory definition of default. The definition of default is appropriately tailored to reflect 
different characteristics of different types of assets. 
 
Significant increase in credit risk  
 
The Bank monitors all financial assets, issued loan commitments and financial guarantee contracts that are 
subject to the impairment requirements to assess whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk since 
initial recognition. If there has been a significant increase in credit risk the Bank measures the loss allowance 
based on lifetime rather than 12-month ECL. The Bank’s accounting policy is not to use the practical expedient 
that financial assets with ‘low’ credit risk at the reporting date are deemed not to have had a significant increase 
in credit risk. 
In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial instrument has increased significantly since initial recognition, 
the Bank compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument at the reporting date based on the 
remaining maturity of the instrument with the risk of a default occurring that was anticipated for the remaining 
maturity at the current reporting date when the financial instrument was first recognised. In making this 
assessment, the Bank considers both quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable and supportable, 
including historical experience that is available without undue cost or effort, based on the Bank’s historical 
experience.  
Given that a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition is a relative measure, a given change, in 
absolute terms, in the PD will be more significant for a financial instrument with a lower initial PD than compared 
to a financial instrument with a higher PD. 
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When an asset becomes 30 days past due, as a back-stop, the Bank considers that a significant increase in credit 
risk has occurred and the asset is in stage 2 of the impairment model, i.e. the loss allowance is measured as the 
lifetime ECL.  
 
Expected Credit Loss (ECL) Model and Forward-Looking Information 
 
The Bank’s ECL model suggests incorporation of forward-looking macroeconomic information to estimate credit 
losses over the lifetime of financial instruments. However, considering that the credit card product as a whole is 
new to the market in Uzbekistan and is newly launched by the Bank, a limited historical default data is available 
to establish a statistically robust correlation between portfolio-level defaults and macroeconomic factors.   
In the absence of sufficient internal historical data, the Bank has not applied forward-looking assumptions in the 
calculation of ECL. The Bank, however, will continue to refine its approach as the credit card portfolio matures  
 
and sufficient historical data becomes available. Regular model validation and updates to macroeconomic 
scenarios will ensure ongoing alignment with observed credit behavior and evolving economic conditions. 
 
Modification and derecognition of financial assets  
 
The Bank’s credit card contracts include clauses that impose late payment penalties in the event of payment 
delinquencies. These penalties are contractually embedded in the original terms and represent compensation for 
increased credit risk and time value of money resulting from late payments. 
Where a customer becomes delinquent and is charged a late payment penalty, such amounts are recognized as 
an adjustment to the effective interest rate and are therefore treated as part of interest income in accordance with 
IFRS 9. The resulting modification of expected cash flows is assessed under the guidance for modification of 
financial assets. 
The Bank evaluates whether the imposition of late payment penalties represents a substantial modification of the 
contractual terms. If the modification is not substantial, the gross carrying amount of the financial asset is adjusted 
to reflect the revised cash flows, discounted at the original effective interest rate, and no derecognition occurs. 
The adjustment is recognized in profit or loss. 
If the modification were considered substantial, which is not typically the case for isolated late payment penalties, 
the original asset would be derecognized, and a new asset recognized. 
 
Write‑off  
 
Loans and debt securities are written off when the Bank has no reasonable expectations of recovering the financial 
asset (either in its entirety or a portion of it). This is the case when the Bank determines that the borrower does 
not have assets or sources of income that could generate sufficient cash flows to repay the amounts subject to 
the write-off. A write-off constitutes a derecognition event. The Bank may apply enforcement activities to financial 
assets written off. Recoveries resulting from the Bank’s enforcement activities will result in impairment gains, 
which will be presented in ‘Recovery of impairment on other non-financial assets’ in the statement of profit or loss 
and other comprehensive income.  
 
Financial liabilities 
 
A financial liability is a contractual obligation to deliver cash or another financial asset or to exchange financial 
assets or financial liabilities with another entity under conditions that are potentially unfavourable to the Bank or 
a contract that will or may be settled in the Bank’s own equity instruments and is a non-derivative contract for 
which the Bank is or may be obliged to deliver a variable number of its own equity instruments, or a derivative 
contract over own equity that will or may be settled other than by the exchange of a fixed amount of functional 
currency cash (or another financial asset) for a fixed number of the Bank’s own equity instruments. 
Financial liabilities are classified as either financial liabilities ‘at FVTPL’ or ‘other financial liabilities’. For all financial 
liabilities the amount presented on the statement of financial position represent all amounts payable including 
interest accruals.  
 
Other financial liabilities  
 
Other financial liabilities, including customer accounts and other financial liabilities, are initially measured at fair 
value, net of transaction costs. Other financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the 
effective interest method. 
The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating 
interest expense over the relevant year. The EIR is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash flows 
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through the expected life of the financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter year, to the net carrying amount 
on initial recognition. 
 
Modification and derecognition of financial liabilities  
 
The Bank derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the Bank’s obligations are discharged, cancelled 
or have expired. The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised and the 
consideration paid and payable is recognised in profit or loss. 
When the Bank exchanges with the existing lender one debt instrument into another one with substantially 
different terms, such exchange is accounted for as an extinguishment of the original financial liability and the 
recognition of a new financial liability. Similarly, the Bank accounts for substantial modification of terms of an 
existing liability or part of it as an extinguishment of the original financial liability and the recognition of a new 
liability. To determine if the modified terms of a liability are substantially different to the original terms a similar 
process with modification of financial assets is followed. The modification is assessed at first on a qualitative 
basis. If it is not clear from the qualitative assessment that a modification has resulted in a substantial change in 
a financial liability, a quantitative assessment is applied. It is assumed that the terms of the financial liability are 
substantially different if the discounted present value of the cash flows under the new terms, including any fees 
paid net of any fees received and discounted using the original effective rate is at least 10 per cent different from 
the discounted present value of the remaining cash flows of the original financial liability.  
 
If the modification is not substantial, the Bank recalculates the amortised cost of the modified financial liability by 
discounting the modified contractual cash flows using the original EIR. The Bank recognises any adjustment to 
the amortised cost of the financial liability in profit or loss as income or expense at the date of the modification. 
 
Taxation 
 
The income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax. 
 
Current tax  
 
The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from net profit as reported 
in profit or loss because it excludes items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and 
it further excludes items that are never taxable or deductible. The Bank’s liability for current tax is calculated using 
tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting year. 
A provision is recognised for those matters for which the tax determination is uncertain but it is considered 
probable that there will be a future outflow of funds to a tax authority. The provisions are measured at the best 
estimate of the amount expected to become payable. The assessment is based on the judgement of tax 
professionals within the Bank supported by previous experience in respect of such activities and in certain cases 
based on specialist independent tax advice. 
 
Deferred tax  
 
Deferred tax is the tax expected to be payable or recoverable on differences between the carrying amounts of 
assets and liabilities in the financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of 
taxable profit, and is accounted for using the liability method. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for 
all taxable temporary differences and deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that 
taxable profits will be available against which deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such assets and 
liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from the initial recognition (other than in a business 
combination or for transactions that give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary differences) of other 
assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.  
The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to the extent that it is 
no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered. 
Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the year when the liability is settled or the 
asset is realised based on tax laws and rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting 
date. 
The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the 
manner in which the Bank expects, at the end of the reporting year, to recover or settle the carrying amount of its 
assets and liabilities. 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets 
against current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority and the 
Bank intends to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis. 
 



JOINT STOCK COMPANY “AVO BANK” 
Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2024 
 

18 
 

Current tax and deferred tax for the year 
 
Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss, except when they relate to items that are recognised in 
other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case the current and deferred tax are also recognised 
in other comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively.  
 
Property, plant and equipment  
 
Property, plant and equipment are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment 
loss.  
Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of assets less their residual value over their useful lives, 
using the straight-line method, on the following bases: 

Right of use assets 5 years 
Office and computer equipment  From 2.5 to 10 years 
Transport 5 years 

 
The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each reporting 
year, with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis. 
Right-of-use assets are depreciated over the shorter year of the lease term and the useful life of the underlying 
asset. If a lease transfers ownership of the underlying asset or the cost of the right-of-use asset reflects that the 
Bank expects to exercise a purchase option, the related right-of-use asset is depreciated over the useful life of 
the underlying asset.  
An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are 
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. The gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an  
 
asset is determined as the difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is 
recognised in profit or loss. 
 
Intangible assets 
 
Intangible assets with finite useful lives that are acquired separately are carried at cost less accumulated 
amortisation and accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation is recognised on a straight-line basis over their 
estimated useful lives (currently 5 years). The estimated useful life and amortisation method are reviewed at the 
end of each reporting year, with the effect of any changes in estimate being accounted for on a prospective basis.  
An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when no future economic benefits are expected from use or 
disposal. Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an intangible asset, measured as the difference between 
the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset, are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is 
derecognised. 
 
Non-current assets held for sale 
 
Non-current assets (and disposal groups) classified as held for sale are measured at the lower of carrying amount 
and fair value less costs to sell. 
Non-current assets and disposal groups are classified as held for sale if their carrying amount will be recovered 
through a sale transaction rather than through continuing use. This condition is regarded as met only when the 
sale is highly probable, and the asset (or disposal group) is available for immediate sale in its present condition. 
 
Cash and cash equivalents 
 
In the statement of financial position, cash and cash equivalents are comprised of cash (i.e. cash on hand and 
on-demand deposits) and cash equivalents. Cash equivalents are short-term (generally with original maturity of 
three months or less), highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to a known amount of cash and which 
are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. Cash equivalents are held for the purpose of meeting short-
term cash commitments rather for investment or other purposes.  
Deposits with central banks or other financial institution counterparties that are subject to third party contractual 
restrictions are included as part of cash unless the restrictions result in a deposit no longer meeting the definition 
of cash.  
 
Mandatory reserves with the Central Bank 
 
Obligatory reserves with the Central Bank of the Republic of Uzbekistan which are not available to finance the 
Bank’s day-to-day operations and hence are not considered as part of cash and cash equivalents for the purposes 
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of the statement of cash flows. Effective from 1 July 2024, the Central Bank of the Republic of Uzbekistan revised 
the regulatory framework governing the maintenance of obligatory reserves. Under the revised approach, 
commercial banks of the Republic of Uzbekistan are required to maintain 100% averaging of obligatory reserve 
within their correspondent accounts with the Central Bank, thus, from 1 July 2024, these amounts are considered 
as part of cash and cash equivalents for the purposes of the statement of cash flows 
 
Provisions  
 
Provisions are recognised when the Bank has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past 
event, it is probable that the Bank will be required to settle that obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of 
the amount of the obligation. 
The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present 
obligation at the reporting date, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. Where 
a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying amount is the 
present value of those cash flows (when the effect of the time value of money is material). 
When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a third 
party, a receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that reimbursement will be received and the 
amount of the receivable can be measured reliably.  
 
Share capital 
 
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares are 
shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds. Any excess of the fair value of consideration 
received over the par value of shares issued is recorded as share premium in equity, if any. 
 
Offsetting 
 
Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the consolidated statement of 
financial position only when there is a legally enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts, and there is an 
intention to either settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. 
 
Staff costs and related contributions  
 
Wages, salaries, contributions to Uzbekistan state pension and social insurance funds, paid annual leave and 
sick leave, bonuses, and non-monetary benefits are accrued in the year in which the associated services are 
rendered by the employees. The Bank has no legal or constructive obligation to make pension or similar benefit 
payments beyond the payments to the statutory defined contribution scheme. 
 
Leases 
 
Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and 
rewards of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases. 
Assets held under finance leases are initially recognised as assets of the Bank at their fair value at the inception 
of the lease or, if lower, at the present value of the minimum lease payments. The corresponding liability to the 
lessor is included in the statement of financial position as a finance lease obligation.  
Lease payments are apportioned between finance expenses and reduction of the lease obligation so as to achieve 
a constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability. Finance expenses are recognised immediately 
in profit or loss unless they are directly attributable to qualifying assets, in which case they are capitalized. 
Contingent rentals are recognised as expenses in the periods in which they are incurred. 
IFRS 16 changes how the Bank accounts for leases previously classified as operating leases under IAS 17, which 
were off balance sheet. Applying IFRS 16, for all leases (except as noted below), the Bank: 

• Recognises right-of-use assets and lease liabilities in the statement of financial position, initially measured 
at the present value of the future lease payments; 

• Recognises depreciation of right-of-use assets and interest on lease liabilities in profit or loss; 
• Separates the total amount of cash paid into a principal portion (presented within financing activities) and 

interest (presented within operating activities) in the statement of cash flows. 
Lease incentives (e.g., rent-free period) are recognised as part of the measurement of the right-of-use assets and 
lease liabilities whereas under IAS 17 they resulted in the recognition of a lease incentive, amortised as a 
reduction of rental expenses generally on a straight-line basis. Under IFRS 16, right-of-use assets are tested for 
impairment in accordance with IAS 36. 
For short-term leases (lease term of 12 months or less) and leases of low-value assets (such as tablet and 
personal computers, small items of office furniture and telephones), the Bank has opted to recognise a lease 
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expense on a straight-line basis as permitted by IFRS 16. This expense is presented within 'Administrative and 
other operating expenses' in profit or loss. 
 
Contingencies 
 
Contingent liabilities are not recognized in the statement of financial position but are disclosed unless the 
possibility of any outflow in settlement is remote. A contingent asset is not recognized in the statement of financial 
position but disclosed when an inflow of economic benefits is probable. 
 
Deposits with banks and payment systems 
 
Deposits with banks and payment systems represent funds placed by the Bank with payment system operators 
(Visa, Mastercard via Asakabank) as collateral to ensure the Bank's participation in the payment systems and to 
secure the settlement of card transactions. These deposits are classified as financial assets measured at 
amortized cost. 
The Bank places these guarantee deposits in accordance with the requirements of the respective payment system 
operators. The amounts of deposits are determined based on the Bank's transaction volumes, risk profile, and 
the specific requirements of each payment system. The deposits are generally subject to certain restrictions on 
withdrawal and are maintained for the duration of the Bank's participation in the respective payment systems. 
The Bank assesses these deposits for expected credit losses in accordance with IFRS 9. Given the nature of the 
counterparties (established payment system operators), these deposits are considered to have low credit risk, 
and the Bank calculates loss allowances based on 12-month expected credit losses unless there has been a 
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition. 
 
Significant accounting judgments and estimates  
 
In the application of the Bank's accounting policies the Bank management is required to make judgements, 
estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from 
other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors 
that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates. The estimates and underlying 
assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period 
in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision and future 
periods if the revision affects both current and future periods. 
 
Significant increase of credit risk. As explained in Note 2, ECL are measured as an allowance equal to 12-
month ECL for stage 1 assets, or lifetime ECL assets for stage 2 or stage 3 assets. An asset moves to stage 2 
when its credit risk has increased significantly since initial recognition. IFRS 9 does not define what constitutes a 
significant increase in credit risk. In assessing whether the credit risk of an asset has significantly increased the 
Bank takes into account qualitative and quantitative reasonable and supportable information. Refer to Note 20 for 
more details. 
 
Models and assumptions used. The Bank uses various models and assumptions in measuring fair value of 
financial assets as well as in estimating ECL. Judgement is applied in identifying the most appropriate model for 
each type of asset, as well as for determining the assumptions used in these models, including assumptions that 
relate to key drivers of credit risk. See Notes 3, 7 and 20 for more details on ECL and Note 23 for more details on 
fair value measurement. 
 
Probability of default. PD constitutes a key input in measuring ECL. PD is an estimate of the likelihood of default 
over a given time horizon, the calculation of which includes historical data, assumptions and expectations of future 
conditions. See Notes 3, 7 and 20 for more details. 
 
Loss given default. LGD is an estimate of the loss arising on default. It is based on the difference between the 
contractual cash flows due and those that the lender would expect to receive, taking into account cash flows from 
collateral and integral credit enhancements. See Notes 3 and 20 for more details. 
 
Recoverability of deferred tax assets. The recognition and measurement of deferred tax assets require 
significant management judgment, particularly in assessing whether it is probable that future taxable profit will be 
available against which these assets can be utilized. The Bank evaluates recoverability based on forecasts of 
future taxable income and the timing of reversal of temporary differences.   
In determining the recoverability of deferred tax assets, the Bank considers recent financial performance and 
projected future profitability, which is inherently uncertain and depend on macroeconomic conditions, business 
performance and regulatory changes. 
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Where uncertainties exist, the Bank applies prudence, recognizing deferred tax assets only to the extent that their 
utilization is supported by convincing evidence. These estimates are reviewed annually, with adjustments 
reflected in the financial statements as new information arises. 
 
Restatements and reclassifications of prior year figures   
 
After issuance of the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2023, the Management of the Bank 
has identified two errors: 
 

1. A transaction involving UZS denominated loans issued to and a USD denominated term deposit 
received as a collateral from a related party of the Bank was presented on a gross basis. However, 
upon review, it was determined that the transaction met the offsetting criteria under IAS 32 – Financial 
Instruments: Presentation. The loan and the deposit were entered into in contemplation of each other 
and are legally enforceable on a net basis. The Bank would not have entered into either transaction 
without the other as transactions are contractually linked, planned for settlement simultaneously and 
reflect a single economic event. The correction results in a net presentation that better reflects the 
economic substance of the transaction, consistent with the principles of IAS 32 and the overarching 
IFRS requirement to present transactions faithfully.  
 

2. During the current year, the Management conducted a review of repossessed collaterals classified 
as held for sale and identified that their actual fair value less costs to sell was significantly lower. 
Further analysis concluded that there were no events in 2024 that would have caused this impairment. 
Instead, it was determined that the assets had been overvalued at the time of repossession and initial 
classification as held for sale and sufficient impairment was not recognized in the prior year. As a 
result, the comparative financial information has been restated to reflect the impairment.  

 
3. The Management has also reassessed the presentation of impairment-related expenses in the 

statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income. Previously, a single line item titled 
“Impairment on other assets” was used to present both expected credit losses on other financial 
assets and impairment losses on non-financial assets. 
 
To enhance transparency and better align with the nature of the underlying items, the Management 
has decided to present these two components separately. Accordingly, the prior year figures have 
been reclassified to conform with the current year’s presentation. 
 

4. During the current year, the Management reviewed the classification of income generated from the 
recovery of loans and advances to customers. It was identified that such income had previously been 
classified as interest income, whereas it should have been presented as recovery of expected credit 
losses (ECL) on loans and advances to customers. To accurately reflect the nature of the transactions 
and to improve their relevance, the comparative information has been reclassified.  
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The effect of the restatements and reclassifications to statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive 
income for the year ended 31 December 2023 is as follows: 
 
In thousands of Uzbekistan 

Soums 
As previously 

reported  Adjustment (2) 
 
Adjustment (3)  Adjustment (4) Restated 

         
Interest Income 15,556,368  -  -  (11,763,467) 3,792,901 
Net interest income 12,206,145  -  -  (11,763,467) 442,678 
Recovery of / (provision) for 

expected credit losses on 
loans and advances to 
customers 16,911,282  - 

 

-  8,480,556 25,391,838 
Net interest income after 

(provision for) / recovery of  
  expected credit losses on 

loans and advances to  
 customers 29,117,427  - 

 

-  (3,282,911) 25,834,516 
(Provision for) / recovery of 

expected credit losses on 
  other financial assets and 

credit related commitments -  - 

 

(415,576)  - (415,576) 
Provision for impairment on 

other assets (10,594,775)  - 
 

10,594,775  - - 
Provision for impairment on 

non-current assets held for 
sale -  (5,213,579) 

 

(10,179,199)  3,282,911 (12,109,867) 
Loss before tax (23,375,972)  (5,213,579)  -  - (28,589,551) 
          

Net loss for the year (24,045,529)  (5,213,579)  -  - (29,259,108) 
          

Total comprehensive loss for 
the year (24,045,529)  (5,213,579) 

 
-  - (29,259,108) 

 
The effect of the restatements to statement of financial position as at 31 December 2023 is as follows: 
 
        

In thousands of Uzbekistan Soums 
As previously 

reported  Adjustment (1)  Adjustment (2)  Restated 
        

Assets        
Loans and advances to customers 7,226,702  (6,881,080)  -  345,622 
Non-current assets held for sale 12,700,189  -  (5,213,579)  7,486,610 
Total assets 182,449,982  (6,881,080)  (5,213,579)  170,355,323 
         

Equity        
Retained loss (62,193,550)  -  (5,213,579)  (67,407,129) 
Total equity    145,341,589  -          (5,213,579)        140,128,010 
         

Liabilities        
Customer accounts 7,583,360  (6,881,080)  -  702,280 
Total liabilities 37,108,393  (6,881,080)  -  30,227,313 
         

Total liabilities and equity 182,449,982  -  -  170,355,323 
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The effect of the restatements to statement of changes in equity for the year ended 31 December 2023 is as 
follows: 
 

In thousands of Uzbekistan Soums 
As previously 

reported  Adjustment  Restated 
      
Loss for the year (24,045,529)  (5,213,579)  (29,259,108) 
Retained earnings (24,045,529)  (5,213,579)  (29,259,108) 
       
 
The effect of the reclassifications on the statement of cash flows for the year ended 31 December 2023 is as 
follows: 
 

In thousands of Uzbekistan Soums As previously 
reported 

 
Adjustment (4) 

 
Restated 

      
Cash flows from operating activities 

     

Interest received                        
15,010,031   

          
(11,763,467)   

               
3,246,564  

Cash flows from operating activities before changes in 
operating assets and liabilities  

                      
(30,533,698)   

         
(11,763,467)  

           
(42,297,165)  

Net (increase) / decrease in operating assets      
Loans and advances to customers                          

1,116,608   
           

11,763,467   
             

12,880,075  
Net cash used in operating activities      (20,725,162)                          -      (20,725,162) 

 
 
4.  Application of new and revised IFRS Accounting Standards 
 
New and amended IFRS Accounting Standards that are effective for the current year. 
 
The following amendments and interpretations are effective for the Bank effective 1 January 2024: 
Amendments to IAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as 

Current and Non-Current                                                                                           
1 January 2024 

Amendments to IAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with 
Covenants                                                                                                                  

1 January 2024 

Amendments to IFRS 16 Leases—Lease Liability 
in a Sale and Leaseback                                                                                                    

1 January 2024 

 
The above standards and interpretations were reviewed by the Bank’s management, but did not have a significant 
effect on the financial statements of the Bank. 
 
New and revised IFRS Accounting Standards in issue but not yet effective 
 
At the date of authorisation of these financial statements, the Bank has not applied the following new and revised 
IFRS Standards that have been issued but are not yet effective: 
 
New or revised standard or interpretation Applicable to annual reporting years  

beginning on or after 
IFRS 18 – Presentation and Disclosures in Financial Statements  1 January 2027 
IFRS 19 – Subsidiaries without Public Accountability: Disclosures 1 January 2027 
Amendments to IAS 21 – Lack of Exchangeability 1 January 2027 
 
The Bank is currently assessing the possible impact of IFRS 18. Until the Bank has completed its review, it is not 
possible to make a reasonable estimate of the financial impact. 
 
The Bank does not expect that the application of IFRS 19 and the amendments to IFRS 21 will have a material 
impact on the Bank's financial statements in future years. 
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5. Cash and cash equivalents 
 

In thousands of Uzbekistan Soums 
 31 December 

2024  
 31 December 

2023  
   

Cash on hand 7,456,129 - 
Cash balances with the CBU 163,795,722    118,399,597 
Correspondent accounts and overnight placements with other banks 15,550,222    5,025,437 
       Less – Allowance for expected credit losses (187,157) (477,349) 
       Total cash and cash equivalents 186,614,916 122,947,685 
      

 
Cash on hand represents cash balances maintained in ATMs.  
In accordance with regulations set by the CBU, the commercial banks are required to maintain mandatory 
reserves calculated based on the volume of customer funds attracted. These reserves ensure liquidity stability 
and compliance with regulatory standards. 
Effective 1 July 2024, the CBU has implemented a revised framework allowing 100% of the mandatory reserves 
to be maintained in the Bank’s correspondent account with the CBU under an averaging mechanism which permits 
daily balance fluctuations provided the average meets regulatory thresholds. Under the previous rules, the 
commercial banks were required to hold only 80% of the mandatory reserves within their correspondent accounts 
with the CBU, while the remaining 20% was held in a specifically designated account with the CBU, which was 
unavailable for use in ordinary operating activities of the Bank. As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, mandatory 
reserve held in a specific designated account with CBU amounted to UZS nil and UZS 281,581 thousand, 
respectively. 
All balances of cash equivalents, except for cash on hand, are allocated to stage 1 and the credit quality at 
31 December 2024 is as follows:  
 

In thousands of Uzbekistan Soums 
Cash balances with 

the CBU  

Correspondent 
accounts and 

overnight placements 
with other banks Total 

-Central Bank of Uzbekistan 
                              

163,795,722 
                                                             

-  
   

163,795,722  

- Rated BB- -  
                                              

15,550,222     15,550,222 
Less: Allowance for expected credit losses                                    

(176,096) 
                                                   

(11,061) 
        

(187,157)     
Total cash and cash equivalents, excluding 
  cash on hand 

                              
163,619,626  

                                                   
15,539,161 

   
179,158,787 

        
 
All balances of cash equivalents, except for cash on hand, are allocated to stage 1 and the credit quality at 31 
December 2023 is as follows:  

In thousands of Uzbekistan Soums 
Cash balances with 

the CBU 

Correspondent 
accounts and 

overnight placements 
with other banks Total 

-Central Bank of Uzbekistan 
                              

118,399,597  
                                                             

-  118,399,597 

- Rated BB- -  
                                              

5,025,437  5,025,437 
Less: Allowance for expected credit losses                                    

(457,385) 
                                                   

(19,964) 
        

(477,349)     
Total cash and cash equivalents, excluding    
  cash on hand 

                              
117,942,212  

                                                   
5,005,473 

   
122,947,685  
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6. Deposits with banks and payment systems 
 

In thousands of Uzbekistan Soums 
 31 December 

2024  
 31 December 

2023  
   

Asaka Bank 2,606,144 82,576 
Paynet 5,264,649 - 
Visa 50,000 50,000 
Mastercard 4,432,874 - 
Restricted cash 10,673,916 2,603,480 
       Less – Allowance for expected credit losses (1,275,840) (8,531) 
       Total deposits with banks and payment systems 21,751,743 2,727,525 
      

 
Restricted cash represents a deposit placed with Mastercard, Asaka Bank and Paynet as a guarantee against 
liabilities arising from the Bank’s operating activities in the event of cessation of operations.  
 
All balances of deposits with banks and payment systems are allocated to stage 1 and the credit quality at 31 
December 2024 is as follows: 
 

In thousands of Uzbekistan 
Soums Asaka Visa Restricted 

cash Paynet Mastercard Total 

- Rated A- to A+                 -            50,000         2,847,067                   -        4,432,874      7,329,941  
- Rated BB-    2,606,144     -            7,726,849      -                    -       10,332,993  
- No rating  -   -            100,000    5,264,649   -      5,364,649  
Less – Allowance for 
expected credit losses    (135,553) 

    (498)                          -     (1,136,322)          (3,467)   (1,275,840) 

Total deposits with banks 
and payment systems   2,470,591         49,502       10,673,916    4,128,327    4,429,407    21,751,743  

All balances of deposits with banks and payment systems are allocated to stage 1 and the credit quality at 31 
December 2023 is as follows: 
 

In thousands of Uzbekistan Soums Asaka Visa Restricted cash Total 

- Rated A- to A+                    -     50,000           2,603,480        2,603,480  
- Rated BB-  82,576                 -                         -               82,576  
Less – Allowance for expected credit 
losses             (8,033)   (498)  -             (8,531) 

Total deposits with banks and 
payment systems            74,543   49,502           2,603,480        2,727,525  
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7. Loans and advances to customers 
 

In thousands of Uzbekistan Soums 31 December 2024 

31 December 
2023  

(restated)* 
     
Corporate loans, gross     -         8,382,105    
Loans to individuals, gross   301,147,654               382,601    
Total loans and advances to customers, gross   301,147,654         8,764,706    
Stage 1   133,562,407           382,601    
Stage 2   108,400,859                          -      
Stage 3     59,184,388           8,382,105    
Total loans and advances to customers, gross   301,147,654         8,764,706    
Less – Allowance for expected credit losses (99,527,912)  (8,419,084) 
Total loans and advances to customers 201,619,742  345,622 

 
The growth in loans to individuals reflects the introduction of a new credit card product targeted at retail customers. 
As at 31 December 2024, loans and advances to customers included accrued interest in the amount of UZS 
32,264,073 thousand. 
In January 2023, the Management has sold on installments one of the fully provided properties classified as a 
non-current asset held for sale with a historical value of UZS 5,574,521 thousand. Due to the financial condition 
of the buyer, the sale was classified as purchased or originated credit impaired financial asset (POCI) within loans 
and advances to customers with 100% allowance for expected credit losses upon reclassification. 
As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, stage 3 loans and advances to customers include POCI financial asset with 
a gross value of UZS 5,574,521 thousand. 
As at 31 December 2024, the credit quality of loans and advances to customers is as follows: 
 
In thousands of Uzbekistan Soums Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total 
          
Minimum credit risk   133,247,372                          -                           -        133,247,372     
Low credit risk           315,035                          -                           -                315,035     
Moderate credit risk                      -          98,397,050                          -          98,397,050     
High credit risk                      -          10,003,809                          -          10,003,809     
Default assets                      -                           -          59,184,388         59,184,388     
Total loans and advances to customers, 
gross   133,562,407       108,400,859         59,184,388       301,147,654     

Less - Allowance for expected credit losses (25,465,360)  (25,418,725)  (48,643,827)  (99,527,912)  

Total loans and advances to customers   108,097,047         82,982,134         10,540,561       201,619,742     
 
As at 31 December 2023, the credit quality of loans and advances to customers is as follows (restated): 
 
In thousands of Uzbekistan Soums Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total 
         
Minimum credit risk                      -                           -                           -                           -      
Low credit risk           382,601                         -                           -                382,601    
Moderate credit risk                      -                           -                           -                           -      
High credit risk                      -                           -                           -                           -      

Default assets                      -                           -      
                     

8,382,105      
                     

8,382,105      
Total loans and advances to customers, 
gross           382,601                         -      

                     
8,382,105      

                     
8,764,706      

Less - Allowance for expected credit losses (36,979) - (8,382,105) (8,419,084) 

Total loans and advances to customers           345,622                         -                           -                345,622    
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As at 31 December 2024, days past due analysis of loans and advances to customers is as follows: 
 

 In thousands of Uzbekistan Soums Corporate loans 
Loans to 

individuals Total 
        
Non-overdue -  158,434,346  158,434,346  
overdue;       
- less than 30 days overdue - 51,823,815  51,823,815  
- 31 to 90 days overdue - 35,739,611  35,739,611  
- 91 to 180 days overdue - 29,328,379  29,328,379  
- 181 to 360 days overdue - 25,821,503  25,821,503  
Total loans and advances to customers, gross -  301,147,654  301,147,654  
Less - Allowance for expected credit losses - (99,527,912)  (99,527,912)  
Total loans and advances to customers -  201,619,742  201,619,742  

 
As at 31 December 2023, days past due analysis of loans and advances to customers is as follows (restated): 
 
 

In thousands of Uzbekistan Soums Corporate loans 
Loans to 

individuals Total 
        
Non-overdue -  382,601  382,601  
overdue;    
- less than 30 days overdue - - - 
- 31 to 90 days overdue -  - -  
- 91 to 180 days overdue 5,574,521 - 5,574,521  
- 181 to 360 days overdue         2,807,584                          -            2,807,584   
Total loans and advances to customers, gross 8,382,105  382,601  8,764,706  
Less - Allowance for expected credit losses (8,382,105)  (36,979)  (8,419,084)  
Total loans and advances to customers -  345,622  345,622  

 
 
 
 
 
The tables below analyse information about the significant changes in the staging of gross carrying amount of 
corporate loans and the allowance for expected credit losses during 2024:  
 

 
In thousands of Uzbekistan Soums Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total 
Gross carrying amount as at 1 January 
2024       -     -       8,382,105         8,382,105     
Transfer from stage 1 - - - - 
Transfer from stage 2 - - - - 
Transfer from stage 3 - - - - 
Changes in EAD* - - - - 
Matured or derecognized assets (except for 
write off) - - - - 

New assets issued or acquired  -  - - - 
Written off assets - - (8,382,105)  (8,382,105)  
Gross carrying amount as at  
  31 December 2024 -  -                      -      -  

 

In thousands of Uzbekistan Soums Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total 
Allowance for expected credit losses 
as at 1 January 2024 - - 8,382,105  8,382,105  

Transfer from stage 1 - - - - 
Transfer from stage 2 - - - - 
Transfer from stage 3 - - - - 
Changes in expected credit losses** - - - - 
Matured or derecognized assets (except 
for write off) - - - - 

New assets issued or acquired  - - - - 
Written off assets - - (8,382,105)  (8,382,105)  
Allowance for expected credit losses 
as at 31 December 2024 - -                      -                           -      
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The tables below analyse information about the significant changes in the staging of gross carrying amount of 
corporate loans and the allowance for expected credit losses during 2023 (restated): 
 

In thousands of Uzbekistan Soums Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total 
Gross carrying amount as at  

           208,974   -            12,692,320         12,901,294    1 January 2023 
Transfer from stage 1                 -                  -                        -                      -    
Transfer from stage 2                 -                  -                        -                      -    
Transfer from stage 3                 -                  -                        -                      -    
Changes in EAD*                 -                  -             144,122        144,122  
Matured or derecognized assets  
  (except for write off)    (208,974)               -          (33,662,112)    (33,871,086)  
New assets issued or acquired                  -                  -                        -                     -    
Written off assets                 -                  -                        -                     -    
Recovery of loans                 -                  -        23,633,254   23,633,254  
Purchased or originated credit-impairment  
  financial assets                       -                       -                  5,574,521            5,574,521  
Gross carrying amount as at  

                      -                       -                8,382,105            8,382,105    31 December 2023 
 

In thousands of Uzbekistan Soums Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total 
Allowance for expected credit losses as at  
  1 January 2023                       -                       -                4,566,168            4,566,168  
Transfer from stage 1                -                 -                       -                     -    
Transfer from stage 2                -                 -                       -                     -    
Transfer from stage 3                -                 -                       -                     -    
Changes in expected credit loss**                -                 -     (25,391,838)    (25,391,838)  
Recovery of written off assets                -                 -       23,633,254        23,633,254  
New assets issued or acquired                 -                 -                       -                        -    
Written off assets                -                 -                       -                        -    
Purchased or originated credit-impairment  
  financial assets                -                 -         5,574,521       5,574,521  
Allowance for expected credit losses as at  
  31 December 2023                       -                 -                8,382,105            8,382,105  

 
The tables below analyse information about the significant changes in the staging of gross carrying amount of 
loans to individuals and the allowance for expected credit losses during 2024: 
 

  
In thousands of Uzbekistan Soums Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total 
Gross carrying amount as at  
  1 January 2024           382,601     - -           382,601     
Transfer from stage 1 (10,063)  10,063  - -  
Transfer from stage 2 - (10,063)  10,063                       -      
Transfer from stage 3 - -  -                       -      
Changes in EAD* (167,642,750) 108,400,859 79,454,517          20,212,626      
Matured or derecognized assets (except for 

write off) -  - - -  
New assets issued or acquired  300,832,619 - - 300,832,619 
Written off assets - - (20,280,192)  (20,280,192)  
Gross carrying amount as at  
  31 December 2024   133,562,407       108,400,859         59,184,388       301,147,654     
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In thousands of Uzbekistan Soums Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total 
Allowance for expected credit losses as 

at 1 January 2024 36,979  - - 36,979  
Transfer from stage 1 (5,108)  5,108   -    -     
Transfer from stage 2  -  (5,108)  5,108   -  
Transfer from stage 3  -  -  -                       -      
Changes in expected credit losses**  (35,790,724)   25,418,725  68,918,911          58,546,912      
Matured or derecognized assets (except for 

write off) -   -   -  -  
New assets issued or acquired   61,224,213   -   -  61,224,213 
Written off assets  -   -  (20,280,192)  (20,280,192)  
Allowance for expected credit losses as 

at 31 December 2024     25,465,360         25,418,725         48,643,827         99,527,912     
 

 
The tables below analyse information about the significant changes in the staging of gross carrying amount of 
loans to individuals and the allowance for expected credit losses during 2023: 

  
In thousands of Uzbekistan Soums Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total 
Gross carrying amount as at  
  1 January 2023             22,953                          -                648,614               671,567     
Transfer from stage 1 -  - -                       -      
Transfer from stage 2 440,075 (440,075) - - 
Transfer from stage 3 - 440,075 (440,075) - 
Changes in EAD* (80,427)  - - (80,427)  
Matured or derecognized assets (except for 
write off) - - - - 

New assets issued or acquired  - - - - 
Written off assets - - (208,539)  (208,539)  
Gross carrying amount as at  
  31 December 2023           382,601                          -                           -                382,601     

 

In thousands of Uzbekistan Soums Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total 
Allowance for expected credit losses  
  as at 1 January 2023             14,769                          -                648,614               663,383     
Transfer from stage 1 -  - -                       -      
Transfer from stage 2 440,075 (440,075) - - 
Transfer from stage 3 - 440,075 (440,075) - 
Changes in expected credit loss** (417,865)  - - (417,865)  
Matured or derecognized assets (except for 
write off) - - - - 

New assets issued or acquired  - - - - 
Written off assets - - (208,539)  (208,539)  
Allowance for expected credit losses  
  as at 31 December 2023             36,979                          -                           -                  36,979     

 
* The line “Changes in EAD” represents changes in the gross carrying amount of loans issued in prior periods 
which have not been fully repaid during 2024 and 2023 and transfers of new issued loans between stages. 
** The line "Changes in expected credit losses" are attributable to changes in parameters (PD, LGD), changes in 
ECL and adjustment of ECL due to transfer to new stages, as well as transfers of ECL on new loans originated 
during the reporting period from Stage 1 to other stages. The information on transfers above reflects the migration 
of loans from their initial stage (or the stage as at the beginning of the reporting date) to the stage they were in as 
at the reporting date. This information does not reflect the intermediate stage that the loans could be assigned to 
throughout the reporting period. 
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Economic sector risk concentrations within the customer loan portfolio were as follows: 
 

In thousands of Uzbekistan Soums 31 December 2024 
31 December 2023* 

(restated) 
     
Individuals – Mortgage           307,972               379,824    
Individuals - Credit Cards   300,839,682                   2,777    
Agriculture and food industry                      -            5,574,521    
Other                      -            2,807,584    

Less - Allowance for expected credit losses (99,527,912)  (8,419,084) 

Total loans and advances to customers 201,619,742  345,622 

 
As of the reporting date, mortgage loan to individual is secured by a property. The remaining portion of the loan 
and advances to customers, consisting of credit card, is unsecured. 
The Bank applies different approaches to determining expected credit losses in accordance with IFRS 9. For the 
mortgage loan, impairment is assessed on an individual basis, considering specific circumstances and collateral 
values of each borrower. For the remaining loans and advances in the portfolio, consisting of credit card 
receivables, expected credit losses are assessed on a collective basis using statistical models that incorporate 
historical default rates and current economic conditions. 
The contractual interest rate on credit cards is 47.9% per annum. 
 
 

8. Investment securities at amortized cost 
 

In thousands of Uzbekistan Soums Interest rate 
Maturity date  
month/year 

 31 December 
2024  

 31 December 
2023  

     
Government bonds 16%-18.07% Jan 25 - Apr 26 3,952,561 - 
           
Less - Allowance for expected credit losses   (10,681) - 
           
Total investment securities at amortized cost   3,941,880 - 
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9. Premises, equipment and intangible assets 
 

  
Office and 
computer 

equipment Transport 
Right of 

Use Assets 
Total premises 
and equipment 

Intangible 
assets Total 

              
Carrying value as at 31 
December 2022       681,711               -       5,897,161      6,578,872       123,624     6,702,496  
Cost:        
Balance as at 31 
December 2022    3,920,405     552,759     7,602,826         12,075,990       561,865   12,637,855  
Additions  10,640,326               -       5,044,115         15,684,441    5,937,512   21,621,953  
Disposal and write-off        (3,378)              -                      -                   (3,378)                 -            (3,378) 
Balance as at 31 
December 2023  14,557,353     552,759   12,646,941         27,757,053    6,499,377   34,256,430  
Accumulated depreciation 
and amortization:       
Balance as at 31 
December 2022   3,238,694     552,759      1,705,665           5,497,118       438,241     5,935,359  
Depreciation and 
amortization       556,866               -        1,000,386           1,557,252       535,290     2,092,542  
Balance as at 31 
December 2023 

        
3,795,560     552,759  

       
2,706,051           7,054,370  

                
973,531  

     
8,027,901  

Carrying value as at 31 
December 2023 

      
10,761,793               -    

       
9,940,890         20,702,683  

             
5,525,846  

   
26,228,529  

Cost:        
Balance as at 31 
December 2023  14,557,353     552,759    12,646,941         27,757,053    6,499,377   34,256,430  
Additions  29,660,243               -     12,361,674         42,021,917    2,536,202   44,558,119  
Disposal and write-off     (412,136) (122,424) (12,646,940)       (13,181,500)     (91,443) (13,272,943) 
Balance as at 31 
December 2024  43,805,460     430,335    12,361,675         56,597,470    8,944,136  65,541,606  
Accumulated depreciation 
and amortization:       
Balance as at 31 
December 2023    3,795,560     552,759     2,706,051           7,054,370       973,531     8,027,901  
Depreciation and 
amortization    3,111,185               -       1,021,436           4,132,621    1,530,110     5,662,731  
Disposal and write-off    (393,457) (122,424)   (2,706,051)         (3,221,932)    (91,443)  (3,313,375) 
Balance as at 31 
December 2024   6,513,288     430,335     1,021,436           7,965,059   2,412,198  10,377,257  
Carrying value as at 31 
December 2024 37,292,172               -     11,340,239         48,632,411    6,531,938   55,164,349  

 
As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, fully depreciated assets amount to UZS 2,974,420 thousand and UZS 
2,177,457 thousand, respectively. 
 
As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, premises and equipment of the Bank were not pledged. 
 
 
10. Non-current assets held for sale 
 
As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the carrying amount of non-current assets held for sale was equal to UZS 
6,394,660 thousand and UZS 7,486,610 thousand, respectively. During 2024, a portion of these foreclosed assets 
were sold for UZS 1,091,950 thousand. 
 
During 2023, the Bank foreclosed on collateral of borrowers who defaulted on their loan obligations. These assets 
were classified as held for sale upon acquisition, as the Bank intends to recover their carrying amounts principally 
through sale transactions rather than through continuing use. Non-current assets held for sale primarily consist of 
buildings located in Syrdarya with a carrying amount of UZS 4,017,108 thousand, and a greenhouse complex 
also located in Syrdarya with a carrying amount of UZS 2,085,788 thousand. The Bank actively markets these 
properties and expects to sell the remaining assets within the next 12 months. Following the assessment for 
impairment, the management has written down the carrying value of these assets by UZS 14,269,867 thousand.  
 
During 2023, one of the properties classified as non-current as held for sale was sold in installments (Note 7). 
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11. Other Assets 

In thousands of Uzbekistan Soums 
31 December 

2024 
31 December 

2023 
     
Other financial assets     
Settlement of operations with plastic cards      150,123                   -     
Fee and commission income receivable       1,570,565    - 
Accounts receivable on money transfers       -     9,281      
Less -  Allowance for expected credit losses (368,231) (3,026)  

Total other financial assets 1,352,457 6,255  
      
Other non-financial assets     
Inventories and other values in the warehouse     12,140,463           6,275,499     
Prepayment for services 9,844,012 1,043,912    
Prepayment for equipment and goods 657,972 741,463 
Income tax prepayments 56,820 222,251 
Prepayments for taxes other than income tax                      -                  22,720     
Other non-financial assets                     26                60,405     
Total other non-financial assets  22,699,293  8,366,250  

Total other assets 24,051,750 8,372,505  
 
Increase in inventories is mainly due to blank plastic cards MC Platinum in the amount of UZS 12,140,463 
thousand. Increase in prepayments for services is mainly due to prepayments for technical maintenance of mobile 
application, IT consulting and scoring services in the amount of UZS 6,386,261 thousand. 
 
 
12. Customer Accounts 

In thousands of Uzbekistan Soums 

31 December 
2024 

31 December 
2023* 

(restated) 
      Legal entities   

- Current/settlement accounts 145,855 24,789 
- Term deposits 406,453 628,241 

   Individuals   
- Current/settlement accounts 7,994,475 49,250 
- Term deposits - - 

       
Total customer accounts 8,546,783 702,280 
       

 
During 2024 and 2023, the Bank has entered into two transactions with a related party: 
 

• An UZS denominated loan with the carrying value of UZS 6,564,208 thousand and UZS 7,999,876 
thousand (2023: UZS 6,881,080 thousand) bearing an interest of 17% and 18.63% per annum, 
respectively; 

• An USD denominated term deposit with the carrying value equivalent to UZS 6,714,964 thousand and 
UZS 8,255,573 thousand (2023: UZS 7,509,321 thousand) received as collateral bearing an interest of 
4.23% and 4.98% per annum, respectively. 

 
These instruments have the same maturity and were entered into in contemplation of each other, contractually 
linked and are legally enforceable on a net basis in case of default under the terms of the agreements. These 
transactions were structured as a single economic arrangement and planned for simultaneous execution and 
settlement. Accordingly, the loan and the deposit have been presented on a net basis in the statement of financial 
position. As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the net amount of UZS 406,453 thousand and UZS 628,241 
thousand, respectively, has been presented within customer accounts as term deposits. 
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13. Other Liabilities 

In thousands of Uzbekistan Soums 
31 December 

2024 
31 December 

2023 
     
Other financial liabilities     
Lease liability     12,105,356         13,628,888     
Accounts payable       2,736,021    15,648,778 
Accrued staff compensation costs       1,933,922               247,367     
Total other financial liabilities 16,775,299  29,525,033  
      
Other non financial liabilities     
Allowance for credit losses on credit related commitments and other 
commitments       9,697,837                          -      

Taxes payable, other than income tax             29,673                          -      
Total other non-financial liabilities       9,727,510                          -      
Total other liabilities 26,502,809  29,525,033  

 
As at 31 December 2024, the decrease in the accounts payable is mainly due to repayment of debts for ATMs 
and IT equipment in the amount of UZS 12,357,210 thousands. 
 

In thousands of Uzbekistan Soums                                                                          31 December 2024  
    
Maturity analysis:   
Year 1 4,521,024 
Year 2 4,521,024 
Year 3 4,521,024 
Onwards 5,818,161 
Gross lease liabilities                19,381,233  
Less: unearned interest  (7,275,877)  
Total lease liabilities                 12,105,356  
Analysed as:   
Current 4,521,024 
Non-current 7,584,332 
Total lease liabilities                 12,105,356  

 
Lease liability as at 31 December 2023            13,628,888  
Additions               12,361,674  
Derecognition of lease liability due to termination of the contract  (13,372,331) 
Repayment              (512,875) 
Interest expense               1,852,569  
Interest paid               (1,852,569)  
Lease liability as at 31 December 2024            12,105,356   

 

 
 

14. Share capital 
 
  Number of outstanding shares 

(in thousands) 
Ordinary 

shares Share premium Total 

At 1 January 2023 3,546,879,031 70,937,581 2,383,608 73,321,189 
Ordinary shares issued 6,710,697,500 134,213,950                        -    134,213,950 
At 31 December 2023 10,257,576,531 205,151,531 2,383,608 207,535,139 
Ordinary shares issued 24,387,000,000 487,740,000                        -    487,740,000 
At 31 December 2024 34,644,576,531 692,891,531 2,383,608 695,275,139 

 
During 2023, the Bank increased the amount of ordinary shares by issuing an additional 6,710,697,500 shares 
with a par value of UZS 20 per share. 
 
During 2024, the Bank’s authorized capital was increased by a total of UZS 487,740,000 thousand through the 
issuance of 24,387,000,000 additional simple non-documentary shares with a par value of UZS 20 each. These 
increases were made in accordance with decisions of the sole shareholder, FE LLC “AVO.UZ,” as follows: 

− 9,500,000,000 shares (UZS 190,000,000 thousand) on 6 January 2024; 
− 9,287,000,000 shares (UZS 185,740,000 thousand) on 20 March 2024; 
− 5,600,000,000 shares (UZS 112,000,000 thousand) on 26 December 2024. 
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All issued ordinary shares are fully paid. Each ordinary share carries one vote and share premium represents the 
excess of contributions received over the nominal value of shares issued. 
 
 

15. Interest income and expense 

In thousands of Uzbekistan Soums 2024 2023 
     

Interest income     

Loans and advances to customers     78,270,658         2,481,195     
Cash and cash equivalents     15,816,825                         -      
Investment securities at amortized cost     11,898,819          1,133,716    
Other             220,399              177,990    
Total interest income   106,206,701            3,792,901     
      

Interest expense     
Lease liabilities       (1,852,569)          (3,213,184)    
Customer accounts           (633,823)              (105,402)     
Due to other banks                       -                (31,637)     
Other           (534,892)                         -      
Total interest expense (3,021,284) (3,350,223)  

Net interest income  103,185,417  442,678  
 
 

16. Fee and commission income and expense 

In thousands of Uzbekistan Soums 2024 2023 
     
Fee and commission income     
Fee for money transfers 36,398,517 - 
Commission on plastic card issuance and maintenance 8,067,541 - 
Cash withdrawal fee 1,623,865 - 
Foreign currency exchange transactions fee 432,295 - 
Settlement operations             379,238               9,170    
Other           640,643               60,498    
Total fee and commission income 47,542,099 69,668 
  
  

    

Fee and commission expense     
Scoring and KYC        (13,208,676)                     -    
Payment systems (12,337,793) - 
Operations with bank cards (3,552,931) (165,708) 
Settlement operations           (646,133)                (60,175)    
Payment channels (502,346) - 
Other     (489,909)              (10,497)    
Total fee and commission expense (30,737,788)  (236,380) 

Net fee and commission income 16,804,311  (166,712) 
 
Payment systems fees represent fees for MasterCard, Visa and other payment systems’ services. Payment 
channels represent fees paid to third parties through whom borrowers make loan repayments. 
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17. Administrative and other operating expenses 

In thousands of Uzbekistan Soums 2024 2023 
     
Salaries and bonuses     33,187,739         10,586,068    
Unified social payment       3,997,032           1,321,035    
Other employee benefits           151,677               710,853    
Staff costs     37,336,448         12,617,956    
      
Advertising and marketing expenses 44,204,904 1,986,682 
Software maintenance 29,979,063 18,373,978 
Rent 7,074,610 408,400 
Depreciation and amortization 5,662,730 2,092,542 
Repairs and maintenance 6,179,064 2,032,479 
Communication 4,796,133 366,812 
Claims and litigations 3,582,226 34,492 
Professional services 3,528,460 1,456,111 
Taxes other than income tax 2,157,248 1,606,084 
Operating supplies – blank cards 1,470,904 - 
Stationery 974,432 233,910 
Vehicle maintenance costs 791,000 49,376 
Security 417,375 571,232 
Utilities 348,013 10,124 
Loss on sale of premises, equipment and intangible assets 18,679 57,720 
Others 2,076,942 141,733 
Total other operating expenses  113,261,783 29,421,675 
Total administrative and other operating expenses  150,598,231 42,039,631  

 
Expenses for professional services above include UZS 1,790,179 thousand and UZS 244,643 thousand 
for audit of the Bank’s financial statements for the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, 
respectively. No other non-audit services were provided during the years ended 31 December 2024 
and 2023. 
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18. Income taxes 
 

(a) Components of income tax expense 
Income tax expense comprises the following: 
 

In thousands of Uzbekistan Soums 2024 2023     
Current tax charge - - 
Deferred tax charge (1,965,266) (669,557) 
       
 Total income tax charge (1,965,266) (669,557) 

 
For 2024 and 2023 statutory income tax rate was 20%. 
 
(b) Reconciliation between tax expense and profit or loss multiplied by applicable tax rate 
  
The effective statutory income tax rate was 20% in 2024 and 2023. 
 

In thousands of Uzbekistan Soums 2024 2023     
Loss before tax 161,413,296    28,589,551 
       Theoretical tax benefit at the applicable statutory rate - 20% (2023: 20%) 32,282,659 5,717,910 
- Non-deductible expenses (non-deductible part of loan loss provisions, 
employee compensation, representation and other non-deductible 
expenses) (6,158,748) (1,126,069) 

- Non-taxable income (interest income from state securities and dividend 
income) 2,379,764 226,743 

Change in deferred tax asset not recognised (16,051,782) - 
Effect from tax losses carried forward (12,393,072) (4,419,472) 
Other permanent differences (2,024,087) (1,068,669) 
       Net income tax expense (1,965,266) (669,557) 
       Net income tax expense relating to the components of other 
comprehensive income - - 

       Income tax expense for the year (1,965,266) (669,557) 
    

 
(c) Deferred tax analysed by type of temporary differences 
 
Differences between IFRS Accounting Standards and Uzbekistan statutory taxation regulations give rise to certain 
temporary differences between the carrying amount of certain assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes 
and for their tax bases. The tax effect of the movements on these temporary differences is detailed below. For 
calculation of deferred tax assets and liabilities enacted tax rate of 20% was used for 2024 (2023: 20%). 
The tax consequences of the movement of these temporary differences for 2024 and 2023, which are reflected 
at a rate of 20 percent, are presented in detail below:  
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 1 January 2023  In the statement 

 of profit or loss 
31 December 2023 In the statement 

 of profit or loss  
31 December 2024 

 
    

   

Tax effects of temporary differences that  
reduce/ (increase) the tax base 

   

Cash and cash equivalents                 6,207                 89,263                 95,470                  (58,039)                 37,431  
Mandatory cash balances with CBU                       -                           -                           -                             -                            -    
Due from other banks                 2,187                  (6,797)                 (4,610)                     4,610                          -    
Guarantee deposits with payment systems                       -                           -                           -                    253,578                253,578  
Loans and advances to customers               40,080              (104,163)               (64,083)            13,986,491           13,922,408  
Investment financial assets                       -                           -                           -                        3,709                    3,709  
Fixed assets and intangible assets             333,525               610,979               944,504             (2,173,357)              (1,228,853) 
Non-current assets held for sale                       -             (1,892,242)          (1,892,242)                -            (1,892,242) 
Other assets          2,113,831           (2,076,774)                37,057                (819,832)              (782,775) 
Customer accounts                       -                           -                           -                 1,045,972             1,045,972  
Other liabilities             138,993            2,710,177            2,849,170               1,843,384             4,692,554  
Net deferred tax assets          2,634,823              (669,557)           1,965,266             14,086,516           16,051,782  
Recognized deferred tax assets           2,634,823            1,291,378            3,926,201      17,137,744           21,063,945  
Recognized deferred tax liabilities                       -              (1,960,935)          (1,960,935)          (3,051,228)           (5,012,163) 
Unrecognized deferred tax assets - - - (16,051,782) (16,051,782) 
Net deferred tax (liabilities)/ assets          2,634,823              (669,557)           1,965,266           (1,965,266) -  

 
For the year ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, no deferred tax assets have been recognized in respect to tax losses carried forward. The total tax losses accumulated 
in 2024 and 2023 amounted to UZS 84,062,719 thousand and UZS 22,097,358 thousand, respectively.  
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19. Provisions for Expected Credit Losses 
 
The following table illustrates the movement in provisions for expected credit losses for other financial assets and credit related commitments for the year ended 31 
December 2024: 
 

 

Cash and cash 
equivalents  

  

Deposits with banks 
and payment 

systems 

Investment 
security at 

amortized cost 
Other financial assets 

  
Off-balance sheet items 

 
            
  Stage 1   Stage 1   Stage 1   Stage 1 Total  Stage 1 Stage 2 Total  

            
1 January 2024  477,349  8,531  -  3,026 488,906 - - 488,906 
             
Transfer from stage 1 -  -  -  - - - - - 
Transfer from stage 2 -  -  -  - - - - - 
Transfer from stage 3 -  -  -  - - - - - 
New assets issued or acquired -  1,267,309  10,681  365,205 1,643,195 6,983,359 2,714,478 11,341,032 
Matured or derecognized assets 
(except for write off) -  -  -  - - - - - 

Changes in expected credit losses (290,192)  -  -  - (290,192) - - (290,192) 
            
31 December 2024 187,157  1,275,840  10,681  368,231 1,841,909 6,983,359 2,714,478 11,539,746 

 
  



JOINT STOCK COMPANY “AVO BANK” 
Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2024 
 

39 
 

The following table illustrates the movement in provisions for expected credit losses for other financial assets for the year ended 31 December 2023: 
 
 

 

Cash and cash 
equivalents   

  Due from other 
banks   

  Deposits 
with banks 

and payment 
systems  

Other financial 
assets  

              
  Stage 1   Stage 1   Stage 1   Stage 1   Total            
1 January 2023 31,037  10,933  -  31,360  73,330 
          
Transfer from stage 1 -  -  -  -  - 
Transfer from stage 2 -  -  -  -  - 
Transfer from stage 3 -  -  -  -  - 
Transfer from stage 3 -  -  -  -   
New assets issued or acquired 446,312  -  8,531  -  454,843 
Matured or derecognized assets (except for write off) -  -  -  -  - 
Changes in expected credit losses -  (10,933)  -  (28,334)  (39,267) 
          
31 December 2023  477,349  -  8,531  3,026  488,906 
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20. Financial Risk Management 
 
Risk Management Framework and Governance 
 
The Bank is exposed to risks through its operating activities. These risks are managed through a systematic 
process of identification, measurement and monitoring, subject to risk limits and controls. This risk management 
process is critical to the Bank's continuing profitability. 
 
The Supervisory Board has ultimate responsibility for establishing and overseeing the Bank's risk management 
framework. The Board has established separate bodies with specific risk management responsibilities: 
 
The Credit Risk Committee is responsible for developing risk strategy and implementing frameworks, policies 
and limits. It oversees fundamental risk matters and manages key risk decisions. 
 
The Management Board monitors the overall risk process within the Bank and receives risk reports. 
 
The Credit Risk Management Department implements and maintains procedures ensuring independent risk 
control. 
 
Bank Treasury manages the Bank's assets and liabilities with primary responsibility for funding and liquidity risks. 
 
Internal Audit performs annual independent reviews of risk management controls and procedures, reporting 
findings to the Audit Committee. 
 
Risk measurement and reporting system  
 
The Bank is primarily exposed to credit risk, liquidity risk, market risk and operational risks. Business risks such 
as environmental, technological and industry changes are monitored through the strategic planning process rather 
than the independent risk control system. 
Risk monitoring and control is primarily performed based on limits established by the Bank. These limits reflect 
the business strategy, market environment and the level of risk the Bank is willing to accept. The Bank also 
monitors and measures risk-bearing capacity in relation to aggregate risk exposure across all risk types and 
activities. 
Information compiled from all business operations is examined and processed to identify, analyze and control 
risks. This information is presented to the Supervisory Board and Management Board. Reports include aggregate 
credit exposure, credit metric forecasts, limit exceptions, liquidity ratios and risk profile changes. The Board 
receives a comprehensive risk report quarterly, while more detailed reporting occurs monthly (industry, customer 
and geographic risk analyses) and daily (market limits, investments and liquidity positions). 
 
Risk Mitigation 
 
As part of its overall risk management, the Bank uses various risk mitigation techniques and financial instruments 
to manage exposures arising from changes in interest rates, foreign currency fluctuations, equity and credit risks, 
as well as exposures related to forecast transactions. 
 
Credit Risk 
 
Credit risk is the risk that the Bank will incur a financial loss because its customers, clients or counterparties fail 
to discharge their contractual obligations. The Bank manages and controls credit risk by setting limits on the 
amount of risk it is willing to accept for individual counterparties by segmentation, and by monitoring exposures in 
relation to such limits. 
To ensure effective credit risk management at the loan origination stage, the Bank has centralized key functions 
— including decision-making, verification, and accounting — within its head office. A proprietary, fully automated, 
and data-intensive loan approval system has been implemented, enabling the Bank to make near-instant credit 
decisions. The Credit Risk Management Division is responsible for maintaining credit risk assessment models 
and overseeing the overall decision-making framework with overall goal of maintaining Risk Appetite metrices. In 
addition, the division conducts periodic validations of the models to ensure consistency, accuracy, and the 
sustained quality of approved loans. 
 
In the credit evaluation process, the Bank employs proprietary risk algorithms and predictive scoring models 
developed using advanced statistical methodologies. These models leverage a broad spectrum of internal data 
sources, including loan application information, transaction histories, behavioral patterns, in conjunction with 
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individual payment performance data. External data sources — such as information obtained from credit bureaus 
(e.g., "Credit Bureau" credit information analysis center LLC), the national pension fund and debit card 
transactions from other banks — further enhancing the robustness of the risk assessment process. 
To safeguard the integrity of its lending operations, the Bank has also integrated automated antifraud mobile 
session controls and analytics into the loan approval workflow. These sessions monitoring of mobile app usage 
and in-app behavior apply internal fraud detection algorithms and external data inputs to perform real-time 
evaluations of each application. Applicants who exhibit behavioral or transactional characteristics associated with 
elevated fraud risk are systematically flagged and automatically rejected prior to the credit decision stage, thereby 
minimizing exposure to fraudulent activity. Various fraud monitoring rules are implemented and controlled 
throughout the life of already approved and debit card and credit card products to ensure protection against frauds 
even after client onboarding stages. 
The Bank continuously collects and analyzes customer activity data including timely repayments of customer 
obligations, allowing for the ongoing refinement and calibration of its credit decision-making models that are used 
for client portfolio management during credit limit increase and credit limit decrease programs. This dynamic data 
environment supports more precise risk differentiation and contributes to enhanced portfolio quality over time. 
 
Credit Risk Assessment and Measurement 
 
The Bank has established a portfolio quality review process to identify potential changes in counterparties' 
creditworthiness at an early stage. Individual credit limits are determined using a credit risk classification system 
that assigns each individual borrower to a specific risk category based on Probability of Default measuring 
expected NPL. These risk classifications are subject to regular review. This process enables the Bank to assess 
potential losses arising from its risk exposures and to take appropriate corrective action when necessary. 
Exposure to credit risk arises from trade receivables, contract assets, cash and cash equivalents, and as a result 
of the Bank’s lending and other transactions with counterparties, giving rise to financial assets and off-balance 
sheet credit-related commitments. The Bank’s maximum exposure to credit risk is reflected in the carrying 
amounts of financial assets in the statement of financial position. 
Credit risk is the single largest risk for the Bank’s business; management therefore carefully manages its 
exposure. The estimation of credit risk for risk management purposes is complex and involves the use of models, 
as the risk varies depending on market conditions, expected cash flows and the passage of time. The assessment 
of credit risk for a portfolio of assets entails further estimations of the likelihood of defaults occurring, the 
associated loss ratios and default correlations between counterparties. 
Credit Risk Appetite – Credit Card Product. As part of the Bank’s credit risk management framework, the risk 
appetite for the credit card product at the point of issuance is defined using the following two key metrics, 
monitored on a monthly basis and introduced in Q3 2024: 
Weighted Average NPL Ratio: The weighted average non-performing loan (NPL) ratio at the approval stage shall 
not exceed 8%, measured in monetary terms. 
Portfolio Share Without Official Income: The share of the credit card portfolio granted to clients without pension 
deductions shall not exceed 40%, measured in monetary terms. 
These thresholds reflect the Bank’s tolerance for credit risk exposure in line with its overall risk management 
strategy. 
Limits. The Bank structures the levels of credit risk it undertakes by placing limits on the amount of risk accepted 
in relation to one borrower and to geographical and industry segments. Limits on the level of credit risk by product 
and industry sector are approved regularly by management. Such risks are monitored on a revolving basis and 
are subject to an annual, or more frequent, review. 
Credit risk grading system. The Bank applies a structured credit risk grading system to assess and manage credit 
exposure, particularly for credit card borrowers. The internal credit rating is aligned with borrower behavior, 
including transaction patterns and utilization rates, while external credit ratings from credit bureaus are used as a 
relevant benchmark. 
Depending on the financial asset type, the Bank utilizes multiple sources for credit quality assessment, including: 

• International rating agencies (e.g., Standard & Poor’s, Fitch), 
• Credit bureau data, and Internally developed credit ratings. 

The Bank assigns each exposure to a credit risk grade reflecting the creditworthiness of the counterparty. Credit 
risk grades are defined using a combination of Days Past Due (DPD), regulatory classification by the Central Bank 
(CBU), and internal assessment models. These grades are closely aligned with the staging approach under IFRS 
9 and are used to assess significant increases in credit risk and to estimate expected credit losses (ECL). 
 
The credit risk grades and associated credit quality are defined as follows: 
 

• Minimum credit risk – exposures demonstrate a strong ability to meet financial obligations. This category 
generally includes exposures at initial recognition, exposures with DPD between 0 and 15 days, and those 
classified as “Standard” by the CBU. 
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• Low credit risk – exposures demonstrate an adequate ability to meet financial obligations. This includes 
exposures with DPD between 16 and 30 days, provided they retain a “Standard” classification by the 
CBU. 

• Moderate credit risk – exposures demonstrate a satisfactory ability to meet financial obligations, though 
signs of potential deterioration may be present. This includes exposures with DPD between 31 and 60 
days, and/or classified as “Substandard” by the CBU. In some cases, “Standard” exposures with elevated 
DPD may also fall into this category. 

• High credit risk – exposures with elevated risk levels that require intensified monitoring. Typically includes 
exposures with DPD between 61 and 90 days, or those showing clear signs of significant credit 
deterioration, even if not yet defaulted. 

• Defaulted assets – exposures are considered credit-impaired or in default. This includes exposures with 
DPD exceeding 90 days, and/or those classified by the CBU as “Unsatisfactory”, “Doubtful”, or “Bad”, 
irrespective of their prior internal or regulatory classification. 

 
The assignment of exposures to these grades is integrated into the Bank’s ECL framework and affects the staging 
of financial assets (i.e., Stage 1, Stage 2, or Stage 3) and the estimation of lifetime credit losses. 
 
The Bank’s internal credit risk rating models are developed using historical default and loss data and are subject 
to regular back-testing and recalibration. The credit risk department is responsible for ensuring the validity and 
predictive power of these models through ongoing monitoring and governance processes. 
The rating models are regularly reviewed by the credit risk department, backtested on actual default data and 
updated, if necessary. Despite the method used, the Bank regularly validates the accuracy of ratings estimates 
and appraises the predictive power of the models. 
External ratings are assigned to counterparties by independent international rating agencies. These ratings are 
publicly available and are applied to financial instruments such as investments in debt securities (government, 
corporate, municipal bonds and promissory notes purchased). 
Expected credit loss (ECL) measurement.  
ECL is a probability-weighted estimate of the present value of future cash shortfalls. ECL measurement is based 
on four components: Probability of Default (PD), Exposure at Default (EAD), Loss Given Default (LGD), and 
Discount Rate. 
The Bank measures ECL either over a 12-month year or the lifetime of the financial instrument, depending on 
credit risk assessment. 12-month ECL applies if there is no significant increase in credit risk (SICR) since initial 
recognition. Lifetime ECL applies if SICR has occurred. 
The assessment of SICR is based on: 

• DPD behavior (Days Past Due), including early delinquency indicators; 
• Curation trends. 

The Bank does not use the low credit risk assessment exemption. The Bank defines default as 90+ DPD, 
insolvency, covenant breaches, or classification as non-performing. Cure is considered after three months without 
default triggers. 
 
The Bank applies portfolio or individual SICR assessment based on asset type and available models. Quantitative 
SICR criteria are applied to loans to individuals using PD threshold shifts. Qualitative SICR indicators include 
delinquency over 30 days, restructuring, or classification as “watch”. 
The Bank measures ECL using: 

• Individual assessment; 
• Portfolio segmentation; 
• External ratings. 

Credit cards are treated as unsecured loans with higher LGD, segmented by utilization and payment behavior. 
For loan commitments, EAD is estimated using Credit Conversion Factor (CCF). 
 
PDs and LGDs are derived from historical data and LGD may be estimated using collateral characteristics or 
recovery statistics. 
 
The Bank continuously reviews its models and assumptions to enhance the reliability of credit risk measurement. 
 
Market risk 
 
Market risk is the risk the Bank’s earnings or capital or its ability to meet business objectives will be adversely 
affected by changes in the level or volatility of market rates or prices. Market risk covers interest rate risk, currency 
risk and credit spreads that the Bank is exposed to. There have been no changes as to the way the Bank measures 
the risk it is exposed to or the manner in which these risks are managed and measured. 
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The Bank’s exposure to interest rate risk is minimal as it is mostly financed with equity and invested in short-term 
bonds. The Bank does not finance its activities with floating-rate liabilities, and it does not invest in floating-rate 
assets. Interest rate risk is mostly managed by controlling duration of investments. 
 
The treasury department also manages interest rate and market risks by matching the Bank’s interest rate 
position, which provides the Bank with a positive interest margin. The Treasury Department conducts monitoring 
of the Bank’s current financial performance, estimates the Bank’s sensitivity to changes in interest rates and its 
influence on the Bank’s profitability. 
 
Interest rate risk 
 
Interest rate risk arises from the possibility that changes in interest rates will affect future cash flow. The Bank is 
not exposed to significant interest rate risk as it does not have floating instruments. 
 
Currency risk 
 
Currency risk is defined as the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes in foreign 
exchange rates. The Bank is exposed to the effects of fluctuations in the prevailing foreign currency exchange 
rates on its financial position and cash flows. 
 
The treasury department controls currency risk by managing the open currency position on the estimated basis 
of UZS devaluation and other macroeconomic indicators, which gives the Bank an opportunity to minimize losses 
from currency rates fluctuations toward its national currency. The treasury department performs daily monitoring 
of the Bank’s open currency position with the aim to match the requirements of Central Bank of the Republic of 
Uzbekistan. 
 
Geographical risk concentration 
 
As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the Bank does not have geographical risk, as correspondent relationships 
are established only with banks of the Republic of Uzbekistan and customer service occurs only at the level of 
residents of the Republic of Uzbekistan. All operations for the year were carried out in the Republic of Uzbekistan. 
 
Currency risk sensitivity 
 
The tables below indicate the currencies to which the Bank had significant exposure as at 31 December 2024 and 
2023 on its monetary assets and liabilities.  

  
Total monetary 

assets 

Total 
monetary 
liabilities 

Net Balance sheet 
position 

        
2024       
UZS 429,542,847 16,775,299          412,767,548    
USD 586,133 14,970,538 (14,384,405) 
Euro           202,261                      -    202,261 
Other           100,000                      -                    100,000  
        

2023       
UZS 132,695,313 29,525,033           103,170,280    
USD 459,420 8,259,654 (7,800,234) 
Euro 3,517                     -    3,517 
Other 31,499                     -                      31,499    

 
The analysis calculates the effect of a reasonably possible movement of the currency rate against the UZS, with 
all other variables held constant on the statement of profit or loss. The effect on equity does not differ from the 
effect on the statement of profit or loss. A negative amount in the table reflects a potential net reduction in the 
statement of profit or loss or equity, while a positive amount reflects a net potential increase. 
 

    31 December 2024 31 December 2023 
       

Strengthening of the USD by 10%   (1,438,440) (780,023) 
Weakening of the USD by 10%    1,438,440 780,023 
Strengthening of the Euro by 10%   20,200 351 
Weakening of the Euro by 10%   (20,200) (351) 
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Capital adequacy 
 
The Bank maintains an actively managed capital base to cover risks inherent in the business. The adequacy of 
the Bank's capital is monitored using the ratios established by the CBU. The primary objectives of the Bank's 
capital management are to ensure that the Bank complies with capital requirements imposed by Central Bank of 
Uzbekistan. The Bank manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Bank will be able to continue as a going 
concern while maximizing the return to stakeholders through the optimization of the debt and equity balance. The 
capital structure of the Bank consists of equity attributable to equity holders of the parent, comprising issued 
capital, reserves and retained earnings as disclosed in the statement of changes in equity. 
 

  31 December 2024 31 December 2023 
  (unaudited) (unaudited) 
      

Fully paid shares                 692,891,531                  205,151,531  
Accumulated deficit                 (59,651,722)                 (31,939,118) 
Share premium                     2,383,608                      2,383,608  
Adjusted Tier 1 capital                 635,623,417                  175,596,021  
      

Capital reserves                     5,571,124                      5,571,124  
Net loss for the year                  (93,391,621)                 (27,727,703) 
Total tier 1 capital                 547,802,920                  153,439,442  
      

Impairment provision on standard assets                     4,379,570                         320,415  
Other                            5,392                           12,186  
Total tier 2 capital                     4,384,962                         332,601  
Total regulatory capital                 552,187,882                  153,772,043  
      

Risk weighted assets and off-balance assets                 664,812,322                    54,796,769  
Operational risk                   20,287,286                    20,145,110  
Market risk                     2,145,709                      2,581,955  
Adjusted total risk-weighted assets                 687,245,317                    77,523,834  
Assets for leverage ratio                 859,680,812                  171,549,862  
Capital adequacy ratios:     
Tier 1 capital adequacy ratio 79.71% 197.93% 
Total regulatory capital adequacy ratio 80.35% 198.35% 
Leverage ratio 63.72% 89.44% 

 
 

21. Liquidity risk and funding management 
 
Liquidity risk refers to the availability of sufficient funds to meet deposits withdrawals and other financial 
commitments associated with financial instruments as they actually fall due. 
The Treasury Department controls these types of risks by means of maturity analysis, determining the Bank’s 
strategy for the next financial years. Current liability is managed by the Treasury Department, which deals in the 
money markets for current liquidity and cash flow optimization. 
In order to manage liquidity risk, the Bank performs daily monitoring of future expected cash flows on customers' 
and banking operations, which is part of assets/liabilities management process. The Management Board of the 
Bank sets limits on the minimum proportion of maturing funds available to meet deposit withdrawals and on the 
minimum level on interbank and other borrowing facilities that should be in place to cover withdrawals at 
unexpected levels of demand. 
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Analysis of financial liabilities by remaining contractual maturities 
 
The tables below summarize the maturity profile of the Bank's financial liabilities at 31 December 2024 and 2023 
based on contractual discounted repayment obligations. 
 

 

Demand and 
less than 1 

month 
From 1 to 
3 months 

From 3 to 
12 months Over 1 year Undefined Total 

             
Financial assets            
Cash and cash equivalents 186,614,916                  -                     -                    -    -  186,614,916 
Loans and advances to  
 customers 3,614,307 6,565,248 31,468,843 159,971,345 -  201,619,742 

Investment securities at 
 amortized cost 996,693 1,943,118                  -    1,002,069 -  3,941,880 

Deposits with banks and  
 payment systems 11,077,827                  -                     -                       -    10,673,916 21,751,743 

Other financial assets 1,352,457                  -                     -                       -    -  1,352,457 
Total financial assets 203,656,200 8,508,366 31,468,843 160,973,414 10,673,916 415,280,738 
             
Financial liabilities            
Customer accounts 8,140,330 155,862         250,591           -    -  8,546,783 
Other financial liabilities 4,802,001 296,073 1,405,713 10,271,512 -  16,775,299 
Total financial liabilities 12,942,331 451,935 1,656,304 10,271,512 -  25,322,082 
Net liquidity gap 190,713,869 8,056,431 29,812,539 150,701,902 10,673,916  

 

  

Demand and 
less than 1 

month 
From 1 to 
3 months 

From 3 to 
12 months 

Over 1 
year Undefined Total 

Financial assets            
Cash and cash equivalents 122,947,685 -                     -                    -                     -     122,947,685  
Deposits with banks and  
 payment systems 124,045 - - - 2,603,480 2,727,525 
Loans and advances to  
 customers 13,851  27,407  114,971  189,393                   -         345,622  
Due from banks          281,581                  -                    -                    -                     -            281,581  
Other financial assets                6,255                 -                    -                    -                     -                6,255  
Total financial assets   123,373,417        27,407        114,971       189,393  2,603,480  126,308,668  
        
Financial liabilities       
Customer accounts            74,039  - -    628,241                   -          702,280  
Other financial liabilities      16,044,823  333,337  1,582,630  11,564,243                  -       29,525,033  
Total financial liabilities       16,118,862  333,337                        1,582,630     12,192,484                   -       30,227,313  
Net liquidity gap      107,254,555  (305,930)  (1,467,659)   (12,003,091) 2,603,480  

 
The bank is primarily financed through equity, making its funding structure highly stable. It can withstand any 
outflows from clients' on-demand deposits, as these deposits represent only a small portion relative to the bank’s 
high-quality liquid assets. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



JOINT STOCK COMPANY “AVO BANK” 
Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2024 
 

46 
 

 
The tables below summarize the maturity profile of the Bank's financial liabilities at 31 December 2024 and 2023 
based on contractual undiscounted repayment obligations: 
 

  

Demand and 
less than 1 

month 
From 1 to 3 

months 
From 3 to 12 

months Over 1 year Total 

Financial liabilities           
Customer accounts 8,140,330 157,197 257,430 -  8,554,957 
Other financial  
  liabilities 5,046,695 753,504 3,390,768 14,860,209 24,051,176 
Total undiscounted  
  financial liabilities 13,187,025 910,701 3,648,198 14,860,209 32,606,133 

 

  

Demand and 
less than 1 

month 
From 1 to 3 

months 
From 3 to 12 

months Over 1 year Total 

Financial liabilities           
Customer accounts 74,039 - -                660,276    734,315 
Other financial  
  liabilities 16,095,459 398,628 1,793,826 28,748,343 47,036,256 
Total undiscounted  
  financial liabilities 16,169,498 398,628 1,793,826 29,408,619 47,770,571 

 
 
22. Contingencies and Commitments 
 
Legal proceedings. From time to time and in the normal course of business, claims against the Bank are 
received. On the basis of its own estimates and both internal and external professional advice the Management 
is of the opinion that no material losses will be incurred in respect of claims and accordingly no provision has been 
made in these financial statements. 
 
Tax legislation. Uzbekistan tax and customs legislation are subject to varying interpretations. Also, changes to 
regulation can occur frequently. Management’s interpretation of legislation as applied to the transactions and 
activity of the Bank may be challenged by the relevant authorities. 
The Uzbekistan tax authorities may be taking a more assertive position in their interpretation of the legislation and 
assessments, and it is possible that transactions and activities that have not been challenged in the past may be 
challenged. 
As a result, additional taxes, penalties and interest may be assessed. Fiscal years remain open to review by the 
authorities in respect of taxes for three calendar years preceding the year of review. Under certain circumstances 
reviews may cover longer years. 
Management believes that its interpretation of the relevant legislation is appropriate and the Bank’s tax, currency 
legislation and customs positions will be sustained. Accordingly, as at 31 December 2024, no provision for 
potential tax liabilities had been recorded (31 December 2023: no provision). The Bank estimates that it has no 
potential obligations from exposure to other than remote tax risks (31 December 2023: no obligations). 
 
Credit related commitments. Commitments to extend credit represent unused portions of authorisations to 
extend credit in the form of loans, guarantees or letters of credit. With respect to credit risk on commitments to 
extend credit, the Bank is potentially exposed to loss in an amount equal to the total unused commitments. 
However, the likely amount of loss is less than the total unused commitments since most commitments to extend 
credit are contingent upon customers maintaining specific credit standards. The Bank monitors the term to 
maturity of credit related commitments because longer-term commitments generally have a greater degree of 
credit risk than shorter-term commitments. 
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Outstanding credit related commitments are as follows: 
 

In thousands of Uzbekistan Soums 31 December 2024 31 December 2023    
Undrawn loan commitments 290,944,862                                                    

-    
Total gross commitments and 
contingencies 290,944,862                                                    

-       
Less: Allowance for expected credit losses                                        

(9,697,837) 
                                                   

-       
Total net commitments and contingencies 281,247,025                                                    

-    
 
The Bank’s all commitments and contingencies are considered to be as on demand due to the fact that according 
to contractual terms they can be allocated to the earliest year in which they can be called. Liquidity requirements 
to support calls under guarantees are considerably less than the amount of the commitments classified as on 
demand because the Bank does not generally expect the third party to draw funds under the agreement. The total 
outstanding contractual amount of commitments to extend credit classified as on demand does not necessarily 
represent future cash requirements, since most of these commitments will expire or terminate without being 
funded. 
 
 
23. Fair Value of Financial Instruments 
 
IFRS Accounting Standards defines fair value as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to 
transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at a measurement date. 
Fair value measurements are analysed by level in the fair value hierarchy as follows: (i) level one are 
measurements at quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities, (ii) level two 
measurements are valuations techniques with all material inputs observable for the asset or liability, either directly 
(that is, as prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from prices), and (iii) level three measurements are valuations not 
based on observable market data (that is, unobservable inputs). Management applies judgement in categorising 
financial instruments using the fair value hierarchy. If a fair value measurement uses observable inputs that require 
significant adjustment, that measurement is a Level 3 measurement. The significance of a valuation input is 
assessed against the fair value measurement in its entirety. 
 
Financial assets and financial liabilities that are not measured at fair value on a recurring basis (but fair 
value disclosures are required) 
 
As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities approximate their 
carrying value. As the credit card business is a new product offering in the local market, the Management of the 
Bank believes that the interest rates applied are representative of current market conditions for similar financial 
instruments. Accordingly, the fair value of these financial assets has not been separately disclosed, as the carrying 
amounts are not materially different from their fair value. 
 
 
24. Related Party Transactions 
 
Parties are generally considered to be related, if the parties are under common control, or one party has the ability 
to control the other party or can exercise significant influence over the other party in making financial or operational 
decisions. In considering each possible related with the Bank party relationship, attention is directed to the 
substance of the relationship, not merely the legal form.  
“Key management personnel” – members of the Management Board and the Supervisory Board of the Bank. 
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